COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA
HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

STATE GOVERNMENT COMMITTEE
PUBLIC HEARING

STATE CAPITOL
HARRISBURG, PA

IRVIS OFFICE BUILDING
ROOM 515

THURSDAY, APRIL 15, 2 021
10:00 A.M.

PRESENTATION ON
ELECTION OVERSIGHT HEARINGS:
STAKEHOLDER AND MEMBER
TESTIMONY

MEMBERS PRESENT:
HONORABLE
HONORABLE
HONORABLE
HONORABLE
HONORABLE
HONORABLE
HONORABLE
HONORABLE
HONORABLE
HONORABLE
HONORABLE
HONORABLE
HONORABLE
HONORABLE
HONORABLE
HONORABLE
HONORABLE

SETH GROVE, MAJORITY CHAIRMAN
RUSS DIAMOND
MATTHEW DOWLING
DAWN KEEFER
ANDREW LEWIS
BRETT MILLER
ERIC NELSON
JASON ORTITAY
PAUL SCHEMEL
CRAIG STAATS
JEFF WHEELAND
MARGO DAVIDSON, DEMOCRATIC CHAIRWOMAN
MALCOLM KENYATTA
MAUREEN MADDEN
JARED SOLOMON
JOSEPH WEBSTER
REGINA YOUNG

2
MEMBERS PRESENT VIRTUALLY:
HONORABLE
HONORABLE
HONORABLE
HONORABLE
HONORABLE
HONORABLE
HONORABLE

RYAN MACKENZIE
CLINT OWLETT
FRANK RYAN
LOUIS SCHMITT
ISABELLA FITZGERALD
KRISTINE HOWARD
BENJAMIN SANCHEZ

Pennsylvania House of Representatives
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania

3
NON-COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT:
REPRESENTATIVE
REPRESENTATIVE
REPRESENTATIVE
REPRESENTATIVE

DONNA BULLOCK
PAMELA DELISSIO
KATE KLUNK
DOYLE HEFFLEY

COMMITTEE STAFF PRESENT:
MICHAELE TOTINO
MAJORITY EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
MICHAEL HECKMANN
MAJORITY RESEARCH ANALYST
SHERRY EBERLY
MAJORITY LEGISLATIVE ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT
NICHOLAS HIMEBAUGH
DEMOCRATIC EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

4
I N D E X
TESTIFIERS
~k

NAME

~k

~k

PAGE

LISA SCHAEFER
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR,
COUNTY COMMISSIONERS ASSOCIATION OF PA ............. 11
DAVID THORNBURGH
PRESIDENT AND CEO,
COMMITTEE OF SEVENTY................................ 2 0
JONATHAN BECHTLE
EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT,
OPPORTUNITY SOLUTIONS PROJECT....................... 27
AMBER MCREYNOLDS
CEO,
NATIONAL VOTE AT HOME INSTITUTE.....................37
HANS VON SPAKOVSKY
MANAGER,
ELECTION LAW REFORM INITIATIVE,
SENIOR LEGAL FELLOW,
INSTITUTE FOR CONSTITUTIONAL GOVERNMENT,
THE HERITAGE FOUNDATION............................. 47
KHALIF ALI
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR,
COMMON CAUSE PENNSYLVANIA........................... 56
SCOTT WALTER
PRESIDENT,
CAPITAL RESEARCH CENTER............................. 63
WESLEY GADSDEN
STATE FIELD DIRECTOR,
ONE PENNSYLVANIA.................................... 72
J. CHRISTIAN ADAMS
PRESIDENT AND GENERAL COUNSEL,
PUBLIC INTEREST LEGAL FOUNDATION....................7 8

5
I N D E X
TESTIFIERS
(Cont’d)
~k

k

k

NAME

PAGE

CAROL KUNIHOLM
VICE PRESIDENT,
GOVERNMENT AND SOCIAL POLICY,
LEAGUE OF WOMEN VOTERS OF PA ........................ 83
ANTHONY A. SHAFFER
PRESIDENT,
LONDON CENTER FOR POLICY RESEARCH...................91
REPRESENTATIVE PAM DELISSIO............................. 101
REPRESENTATIVE KATE KLUNK............................... 107
REPRESENTATIVE DOYLE HEFFLEY............................ 112
REPRESENTATIVE DONNA BULLOCK............................ 116
REPRESENTATIVE MALCOLM KENYATTA......................... 119
REPRESENTATIVE MARGO DAVIDSON........................... 122
REPRESENTATIVE PAUL SCHEMEL............................. 126

SUBMITTED WRITTEN TESTIMONY
~k

~k

~k

(See submitted written testimony and handouts online.)

6
1

P R O C E E D I N G S

2

* * *

3

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

Good morning.

The

4

hearing of the House State Government Committee is now

5

called to order.

6

Chairman of the House State Government Committee.

I ’m State Representative Seth Grove.

I ’m

This morning, we have 11 nonpartisan stakeholder

7
8

groups and seven House Members testifying.

9

stakeholder group and House Member requested the ability to

Each

10

testify before this Committee.

11

the ACLU of Pennsylvania, but they politely declined to

12

testify at this time.

13

testimony.

14

I

My office did reach out to

Hopefully, they will be submitting

know the Members of the State Government

15

Committee will act in a professional manner and treat our

16

guests with the utmost respect as they are giving up their

17

time so we may be better informed on election issues.

18

For the Members’ information, within your packets

19

is a survey result from the general public.

20

Capitol and our hearings are now open to the public, there

21

is limited seating available in each hearing room due to

22

COVID-19 mitigation orders by the Governor.

23

While the

We will have Members and testifiers in attendance

24

virtually, as well as public viewing via live stream.

25

to Sunshine Law requirements, if either of these platforms

Due

7
1

experience technical difficulties, we will pause the

2

meeting in order to correct the issues.

3

participating virtually, please mute your microphones.

4

Please know when you speak, we all hear you.

5

to be recognized for comments, please use the raise-hand

6

function.

7

turn on your camera and unmute your microphone.

8

you've completed your questions, please mute your

9

microphone.

10

For the Members

If you want

After being recognized but prior to speaking,
After

Committee introductions, we will start with

11

Committee Members in the room.

12

virtually, I will call on you one by one.

13

Chairwoman.

14

For Members attending

DEMOCRATIC CHAIRWOMAN DAVIDSON:

We'll start with

Chairwoman

15

Margot Davidson, State Rep. for the 164th Legislative

16

District in Delaware County.

17
18

REPRESENTATIVE KENYATTA:

Representative Malcolm

Kenyatta, 181st District.

19

REPRESENTATIVE NELSON:

Representative Eric

20

Nelson, 57th District, Westmoreland County.

21

REPRESENTATIVE WEBSTER:

22

Good morning, everyone.

Joe Webster representing the 150th in Montgomery County.

23

REPRESENTATIVE YOUNG:

Representative Regina

24

Young, 185th, Delaware County and Philadelphia County.

25

Thank you.

8
1

REPRESENTATIVE BULLOCK:

Thank you, Chairman, for

2

allowing me to introduce myself.

3

Committee but Representative Donna Bullock, 195th District.

4
5

I ’m not a Member of the

REPRESENTATIVE STAATS:

Good morning, everyone.

Craig Staats, the 145th District in Bucks County.

6

REPRESENTATIVE LEWIS:

7

the Committee and all watching.

8

the wonderful 105th District in Dauphin County.

9

Good morning, Members of
Andrew Lewis representing

REPRESENTATIVE WHEELAND:

Good morning.

10

Representative Jeff Wheeland,

11

Williamsport, home of Little League Baseball.

12

83rd District, city of

REPRESENTATIVE KEEFER:

Good morning.

13

Representative Dawn Keefer from the 92nd Legislative

14

District covering York and Cumberland Counties.

15
16
17
18
19
20

REPRESENTATIVE MILLER:

Brett Miller, 41st

District, Lancaster County.
REPRESENTATIVE SCHEMEL:

Paul Schemel, portions

of Franklin County.
REPRESENTATIVE DOWLING:

Matthew Dowling, the

51st District, Fayette and Somerset Counties.

21

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

22

REPRESENTATIVE OWLETT:

Representative Owlett?
Representative Clint

23

Owlett, the 68th District, Tioga and parts of Bradford and

24

Potter County.

25

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

Representative

9
1

Fitzgerald?

2

REPRESENTATIVE FITZGERALD:

Good morning.

3

Isabella Fitzgerald representing the 203rd Legislative

4

District, Philadelphia, West Oak Lane, East Oak Lane, and

5

the lower northeast.

6

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

7

REPRESENTATIVE FITZGERALD:

8

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

9
10
11

Thank you.

Representative -
Thank you.
Yes.

You’re welcome.

Representative Ryan.
REPRESENTATIVE RYAN:

Representative Frank Ryan

representing the 101st District, the same as my age.

12

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

13

REPRESENTATIVE HOWARD:

14

from the 167th District in Chester County.

15

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

16

REPRESENTATIVE ORTITAY:

Representative Howard.
Hi, it’s Kristine Howard

Representative Ortitay?
Good morning, everyone.

17

State Representative Jason Ortitay representing the 46th

18

District in Allegheny and Washington Counties.

19

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

20

REPRESENTATIVE SCHMITT:

Representative Schmitt?
Good morning, everybody.

21

Lou Schmitt, 79th Legislative District, the city of

22

Altoona, township of Logan and part of Allegheny Township

23

in Blair County.

24

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

25

REPRESENTATIVE DIAMOND:

Representative Diamond?
Good morning, everyone.

10
1

Representative Russ Diamond, 102nd District in Lebanon

2

County.

3
4

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

Representative

Mackenzie.

5

REPRESENTATIVE MACKENZIE:

Good morning.

State

6

Representative Ryan Mackenzie from the 134th District in

7

portions of Lehigh and Berks Counties.
MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

8
9

Members.

Excellent.

Got all the

We will turn to our first testifier.

And for the

10

Members, we do have 18 testifiers today total between

11

stakeholder groups and Members testifying.

12

dispatch with questions.

13

send them in writing and do a follow-up at a later date.

14

think it’s imperative we hear from all sides and all

15

perspectives before we take up election perspectives.

We will

If we have any follow-up, we can

With that, we will call up Lisa Schaefer, the

16
17

Executive Director of the County Commissioners Association

18

of Pennsylvania.

19

unmute.

20
21
22
23

If you can turn on your camera and

MS. SCHAEFER:

Good morning, Chairman Grove and

Chairwoman Davidson, Members -
MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:
to swear you in.

Oh, hold on.

W e ’ve got

If you could raise your right hand.

24
25

I

(Witness sworn.)
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1
2

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

And first, I want to

3

thank you for all your help and assistance in lining up

4

testifiers over these months of hearings.

5

County Commissioners' input and assistance,

6

we would have unable to be as successful as we have been.

7

So thank you very much.

Without the
I do not think

8

And you can start your comments at any time.

9

MS. SCHAEFER:

10

you.

Thank you very much, and thank

It's been a pleasure to be of assistance.

11

Good morning to the Members of the Committee.

12

Obviously, as you've heard over the past several weeks,

13

Pennsylvania's 67 counties have a significant and primary

14

responsibility for assuring a fair, secure, accurate, and

15

accessible election across the Commonwealth, everything

16

from verifying voter registrations to choosing polling

17

locations and voting equipment, training poll workers, all

18

the way through the certification of the vote.

19

appreciate that this Committee has recognized this and

20

included so many county officials and Election Directors

21

throughout this hearing series to provide that frontline

22

knowledge about election administration.

23

And we do

Our counties were the ones in the trenches last

24

year dealing with the triple challenge of implementing the

25

expansion of mail-in ballots to all voters, running an

12
1

election during the global pandemic, and facing a high-

2

profile and highly contentious presidential race in a

3

battleground State.

4

believe our counties did a tremendous job running a

5

successful, fair, and accurate election.

6

Despite all that, we absolutely

Like this Committee, though, one of the first

7

things that we did when the dust settled last November was

8

to convene our Elections Reform Committee, which comprises

9

county officials and county Election Directors across the

10

State to review county experiences in 2020.

11

lot from those experiences, and again, while counties

12

absolutely delivered a successful election, we also know

13

that there are ways in which changes to the law can improve

14

our ability to administer elections and hopefully reduce

15

the confusion that we saw in 2020.

We learned a

That review led to a preliminary report and

16
17

recommendations that were released by our Committee in

18

January, and it’s included in my testimony for your further

19

reference.

20

Given the testimony that you’ve already heard

21

from our counties, it will probably come as no surprise to

22

you that one of our top recommendations and priorities from

23

our counties this year is to expand the time period for

24

pre-canvassing.

25

reiterate that processing mail-in ballots on election day

I won’t belabor this other than to

13
1

essentially means that counties are forced to run two

2

separate elections on the same day.

3

additional time to pre-canvass ballots would allow counties

4

to use their resources most effectively and most

5

efficiently to administer both.

6

likelihood of timely results on election night,

7

significantly reducing confusion as mail-in votes would

8

otherwise continue to be processed in the days after the

9

election, as we saw in November.

10

And allowing

It would also increase the

Our other top priority is to move the deadline to

11

apply for a mail-in ballot from seven days prior to an

12

election to 15 days prior to an election, which would be

13

consistent with the voter registration deadline.

14

current law says that voters can apply up to seven days

15

prior to an election, w e ’re telling voters that if they

16

follow the law, the process will work as advertised and

17

they can be assured that their vote will be able to be

18

counted.

19

When the

Unfortunately, this is a promise that we cannot

20

guarantee that we can keep to our voters.

21

row seat to this last year.

22

the last days before the deadline saw timing challenges

23

with the Postal Service, not receiving their ballots until

24

too close to the submission deadline to make it

25

logistically possible to return their ballots by mail and

We had a front

Many of those who waited until

14
1

have them in the county election office by 8:00 p.m. on

2

election night.

3

That caused unnecessary anxiety for our voters

4

who, again, for their part were following the law, but it

5

led voters to come to the polling place anyway to either

6

spoil their ballot and vote on the machines or vote by

7

provisional ballot so they knew their vote had indeed been

8

cast and counted.

9

of flexibility and convenience of mail-in ballots for

That really undermines the entire point

10

voters, and it contributed to the longer wait for election

11

results as counties had to reconcile additional provisional

12

ballots with the mail-in ballots they had received.

13

To be clear, we are not calling for changes to

14

the deadline to submit mail-in ballots, only to apply for a

15

mail-in ballot.

16

application deadline is moved back to 15 days, there is

17

still a responsibility on the part of the voter to return

18

their completed ballot on time, but by moving the

19

application deadline back, we can do our part to better set

20

our voters up for success.

Furthermore, we realize that even if the

One other point I ’ll note is that while pre

21
22

canvassing and moving the application deadline back aren’t

23

dependent on one another, they do work in parallel with one

24

another.

25

advantage of a pre-canvassing period,

In order for counties to be able to take a
They need to have

15
1

ballots returned that they can pre-canvass, and moving

2

application deadline back offers greater incentive and

3

opportunity for ballots to be returned in a timely fashion.

4

There are many other points in the election code

5

that need to be addressed to promote clarity and

6

consistency across the Commonwealth, which will benefit

7

both counties and voters.

8

as well and include many of the areas that we saw raised in

9

various litigation over the last months of 2020, clarity on

10

the use of drop boxes, how to handle naked ballots, whether

11

voters should be permitted to cure ballots, the

12

implementation of the permanent status list, and all of

13

these need the thoughtful input of counties to craft

14

workable solutions.

15

These are outlined in our report

On a separate note, we know that election

16

security, particularly cybersecurity, has been a topic of

17

interest throughout these hearings.

18

Commonwealth collaborate on these issues on a regular and

19

ongoing basis from general cybersecurity to more specific

20

matters like the SURE modernization project that you’ve

21

heard about and working with the Commonwealth to deploy

22

Albert sensors to detect threats on county networks.

23

really urge the Committee to continue to bring in the

24

county perspective for any further discussions in this area

25

so we can provide an understanding of all that we are

Counties in the

We

16
1
2

already doing.
We'd be remiss if we didn't also raise the other

3

underlying administrative and resource support that we need

4

to assist counties in their critical election tasks

5

regardless of any further amendments to the election code.

6

The increased workloads and the stress of implementing an

7

entirely new law during a highly contentious presidential

8

election and global pandemic, while also having to

9

constantly correct misinformation; respond to confused,

10

angry, and often threatening voters on a daily basis; and

11

defend their work implementing a fair and secure election

12

no longer make this work environment palatable for many.

13

In addition, as counties implemented Act 77, most

14

counties saw their budgets for elections-related costs

15

increase significantly.

16

staffing overtime needs grew to address workload

17

requirements, and more.

18

Additional supplies were needed,

Again, we appreciate the diligence of this

19

Committee in including county input in these hearings, but

20

the collaboration cannot stop here.

21

also be a critical part of how legislation is developed

22

going forward from here, offering input on policy

23

questions, helping to craft language to implement those

24

policies with an eye toward addressing issues on the front

25

end so that we can avoid the questions and confusion on the

County input needs to

17
1

backend that we saw with Act 77.

2

We also urge the development of legislation to

3

begin as soon as possible now that this series of hearings

4

has been concluded.

5

changes to the election code would happen before the May

6

primary, but we urge the General Assembly to work with us

7

to accomplish meaningful reforms before the summer recess

8

so there’s ample time for implementation ahead of the

9

November election.

10

I don’t think we anticipated that

By the time the legislature returns in the fall,

11

counties will be deep into the deployment of the November

12

elections.

13

foster the confusion we all want to avoid creating again.

14

And while we don’t want to rush work on such an important

15

effort, with historically lower voter turnout in a

16

municipal election year, making changes that could be

17

implemented in November would offer a little bit more

18

breathing room for counties to successfully implement those

19

changes.

Any changes that happen at that time will only

20

And of course these impacts will continue to fall

21

squarely on county shoulders as they are solely responsible

22

for administration of elections on the local level.

23

Appropriate resources and funding support must be provided

24

by both the Federal and State Government to support

25

counties in these critical tasks, yet another reason why

18
1

counties in the State must continue to work together as new

2

laws and policies are developed to assure any increased

3

cost and resource needs, including supplies and staffing,

4

are also considered.

5

It’s time to put our political differences aside

6

and resolve to make meaningful improvements to the

7

Pennsylvania election code.

8

fundamental government function.

9

has a stake in assuring that they are secure, fair, and

Elections are, as you know, a
Every level of government

10

accurate, and we look forward to working together with you

11

on this very important topic.

12

Thank you.

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

Thank you, Ms.

13

Schaefer.

14

has had, and we value your input and a primary stakeholder

15

moving forward.

16

We greatly appreciate all the assistance CCAP

Thank you very much.

There were some Members I did miss,

17

Representative Sanchez virtually.

18

Representative Sanchez, if you want to introduce yourself.

19

REPRESENTATIVE SANCHEZ:

20

Chairman.

21

from Montgomery County.

22

I apologize.

Not a problem, Mr.

Thank you, and good morning to all.

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

Ben Sanchez

And we did have two

23

Members arrive, Representative Solomon and Representative

24

Madden, if you want to introduce yourselves.

25

REPRESENTATIVE MADDEN:

Good morning.

19
1

Representative Madden, 115th Legislative District, Monroe

2

County.

3

REPRESENTATIVE SOLOMON:

Good morning, everyone.

4

Representative Jared Solomon, northeast Philadelphia,

5

2 02nd.

6

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

7

With that, we will move on to our next panel.

8

Thank you again, Ms. Schaefer, for your testimony.

9

David Thornburg, President and CEO, Committee of

10

Seventy.

11

yourself?

David, can you turn on your video and unmute

12

MR. THORNBURGH:

13

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

14

you.

15

probably pop up.

16
17

We cannot see you.

MR. THORNBURGH:

Can you hear me?

Okay.

There we go.

We got

you.

21

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

Okay.

don’t mind raising your right hand.

23

25

My camera says it’s on,

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

MR. THORNBURGH:

24

We can hear

If you keep talking, you will

20

22

We can.

so -

18
19

Awesome, thank you all.

(Witness sworn.)

All right.

If you

20
1

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

Thank you.

And I also

2

want to say thank you to the Committee of Seventy and Pat

3

Christmas for all your recommendations for testifiers

4

throughout these hearings.

5

getting those nationally recognized election experts, I

6

don’t think we would be as successful as we have been.

7

again, our heartfelt, sincere thoughts and prayers for your

8

loss of your father.

9

Without your input and help

And

So with that -

MR. THORNBURGH:

Thank you so much, Mr. Chair,

10

and I will certainly pass on your thanks to Pat Christmas.

11

He has been a great help, as you know.

12

And I want to thank also Chair Davidson and you

13

and the Members of the Committee for your thoughtful and

14

deliberate consideration of these volatile issues over the

15

last number of weeks.

16

the hearings, and I ’ve really been impressed by the step-

17

by-step approach that you’ve taken, focusing on actual

18

things that happened in this past election and not getting

19

down the rabbit hole of things that might have happened or

20

could’ve happened or that somebody thought could’ve

21

happened or might’ve happened.

22

spirit that I ’d like to address you all today.

I ’ve tuned in to a good number of

And I think it’s in that

Just a quick note, the Committee of Seventy I

23
24

think is one of the oldest good-government groups in the

25

country.

We were founded by business and civic leaders in

21
1

1904 who were concerned about the way in which the

2

Commonwealth and the city of Philadelphia were governed and

3

particularly concerned that we needed to protect and

4

improve the voting process, so 117 years later, here we

5

are.

6

Much has been said about how this election season

7

played out, and I provided my testimony to you and the

8

Members in that regard.

9

some color commentary to the testimony in the hopes that it

I'm going to provide, if you will,

10

provides some useful context.

11

remarks on the human factor, the people who were involved

12

in this process because I think a lot of your

13

recommendations and considerations really ought to focus on

14

those folks.

15

And I want to focus my

And there are really two primary actors that I

16

think we have to keep in mind.

17

and you heard from Ms. Schaefer about the heroic work of

18

her constituents.

19

rap in our political culture, but I think this is a time

20

when a lot of bureaucrats became herocrats and really

21

delivered in a very volatile, stressful atmosphere on their

22

mission.

23

One is Election Directors,

You know, bureaucrats often take a bad

The other group I think that should be core to

24

this whole process is the voters.

25

lot of stress and felt a lot of anxiety.

And voters were under a
The good news is

22
1

that we had record turnout, but there were a lot of bumps

2

along the way just in communicating basic information to

3

those folks so that they were confident that their vote was

4

properly cast and counted.

5

So from that I think one core recommendation is

6

essentially to recognize the stresses and strains of

7

Election Directors and voters.

8

time.

9

process vote-by-mail ballots, and we need to give voters

We need to give them more

We need to give Election Directors more time to

10

more of a chance to so-called cure their balloting and to

11

be alerted if something’s wrong with their ballots so that

12

they can correct those issues and make sure that their

13

voice is heard in the election.

14

So I know that’s been a central focus of your

15

work, and I commend that.

16

is the right amount of time to particularly give Election

17

Directors to process votes I would err on the side of as

18

much time as possible because, as Ms. Schaefer pointed out,

19

that avoids the dynamic that we ran into this last fall,

20

which I think was very anxiety-producing at least.

21

And our answer to how much time

Another part of that in focusing on voters is

22

there was an enormous amount of confusion about the

23

difference between an absentee ballot process and the no

24

excuse absentee ballot process that we set up, and we

25

believe it’s really important to clarify that for voters so

23
1

there’s one process that voters can understand, follow the

2

deadlines, get their paperwork in on time.

3

in and of itself I think eliminate an enormous amount of

4

anxiety from voters.

5

And that will

The second area of recommendation that we have

6

for you is to strengthen polling place staffing.

You know,

7

Pennsylvania is one of the few States in the country that

8

still elects the majority of our poll workers.

9

we need about 45,000 men and women to staff those polls.

10

Also recognizing, as you all know and has been said many

11

times, w e ’re now running parallel elections so where all

12

you used to have to concentrate was on the in-person

13

process.

14

process dealing with mail ballots.

Statewide,

Now you have this kind of back-of-the-house

15

If w e ’re going to continue to do that, then we

16

need to find ways to strengthen the staffing and to make

17

more flexible the staffing requirements for those 45,000

18

poll workers because it was only through a heroic effort

19

all the way around -- and we were involved in that in the

20

Philadelphia region -- that we had enough people to staff

21

those polls on election day.

22

on heroic efforts each and every time we hold an election

23

because whether it’s a presidential election, a municipal

24

election, State election, we still need to staff those poll

25

workers.

And, you know, we can’t count

We need to staff those polls, and we need to

24
1

provide the counties with the flexibility to do that.

2

Another part of that -- and, again, focusing on

3

the counties -- is we hope you can give serious

4

consideration to providing counties with a basic level of

5

election funding to pay for the work that they do on behalf

6

of not just the counties but local governments.

7

and support your elections, the Statewide elections, and

8

the Federal elections.

9

they’ve never really had, this starts to look like yet

They staff

And without that funding, which

10

another unfunded mandate that a lot of folks at local

11

levels often bristle about.

12

significant concern and presents a real opportunity here.

13

So we believe that is of

We know that one of the sources of stress for

14

this last election was financial stress.

15

avalanche of mail ballots and the need to staff in-person

16

voting, counties were pushed to the limit at a time, of

17

course, when they’re also, because of the pandemic-related

18

downturn in the economy, very concerned about their own

19

revenues.

20

Faced with this

And, as you know, a number of counties applied

21

for and received nonpartisan outside funding to supplement

22

their efforts.

23

was critically important that we delivered this election as

24

well and as efficiently and effectively as possible.

25

again, we can’t count on that going forward, and absent

We believe that was justified because it

But

25
1

that kind of one-off funding, counties are going to be

2

continued to be stressed in their ability to deliver

3

elections.

4

The last issue that I ’d want to highlight might

5

not have shown up as much in this testimony, but w e ’ve come

6

to believe that it’s a significant one because of the fact

7

that it disenfranchises probably more than anything else

8

that we can think of a significant number of Pennsylvania

9

voters.

And that’s the fact that, again, unlike the vast

10

majority of States, we prohibit voters who are not

11

registered as either Republicans or Democrats from

12

participating in primary elections.

13

900,000 of them now.

14

the voting population.

15

And there are about

It’s the fastest-growing segment of

We also know that primary elections, pardon the

16

pun, are the primary elections too often.

17

races and other races, local races where the general

18

election is either uncontested or only lightly contested.

19

So we implore you to consider reviving the idea that did

20

pass through the Senate under Joe’s Scarnati’s leadership

21

in the last session, which would allow an independent voter

22

to choose a primary, Democrat primary or Republican primary

23

in which to vote, and therefore, giving them a voice in

24

that primary election, which we also believe would make a

25

positive difference to the way that your business is

We see your
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conducted once folks are elected to the General Assembly

2

and our other offices.

3

The final thing I just add in the way of -- this

4

is not related to any one recommendation that we put

5

forward, but I would strongly encourage you as you move

6

forward with potential legislative responses to do so on a

7

bipartisan basis.

8

accomplishment in that it involved the old-fashioned give-

9

and-take on both sides, and I think we're in an environment

I think that Act 77 was a great

10

now where amendments to the election law or other changes

11

that are not done on a bipartisan basis are simply going to

12

increase the level of distrust that voters have in the

13

process, and we should be doing everything possible to

14

restore that trust and confidence.

15

our democracy here in the Commonwealth and around the

16

country.

17

That's the bedrock of

And then the final thing sort of just to return

18

to a theme that I started with is as much as possible -- we

19

all know this is a political process and that elections

20

matter and the results of elections matter, but in this

21

instance we have to be focused on the interest of voters

22

and to be thinking about the men and women all over the

23

Commonwealth of all ages, rural, urban, suburban,

24

everywhere in between, and how they experience this voting

25

process and what we can do to make this more
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straightforward, easier, more accessible because I hope and

2

I know we all believe that the more people who participate

3

in this process and the better informed they are about the

4

process, then the stronger our local democracy is.

5

So, again, thanks for the chance to share some

6

thoughts with you, and again, I commend your great work

7

going forward and look forward ourselves to doing what we

8

can to support it in the future.

9

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

Thank you, Mr.

10

Thornburg.

11

look forward to working with you moving forward.

12

We greatly appreciate your testimony today.

We

Our next testifier is Jonathan Bechtle, Executive

13

Vice President, Opportunity Solutions Project.

14

if you could turn on your microphone and your video, say a

15

few words so it pops up.

16
17

MR. BECHTLE:

It looks like it

should be on.
MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

18
19

Can you hear me?

Jonathan,

right.

There you go.

All

If you could raise your right hand.

20
21

(Witness sworn.)

22
23
24
25

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

All right.

Please

begin, and thank you for your time this morning.
MR. BECHTLE:

Well, thank you, Chairman Grove,
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1

Chair Davidson, and Members of the Committee.

2

appreciate this opportunity today.

3

name is Jonathan Bechtle.

4

Solutions Project, which is a nonprofit public policy

5

organization.

6

reforms to increase voter confidence in elections.

7

I really

As you mentioned, my

I represent the Opportunity

We work with lawmakers in about 20 States on

Personally, I ’m an attorney.

I ’ve worked in the

8

past on election law in Washington State after the

9

extremely close Governor’s race in ’04 and then when the

10
11

State moved to vote-by-mail the following year.
Today, what I ’d like to do a share some reforms

12

that other States have used to improve their election

13

system into ways.

14

of elections, especially in those last couple of months

15

right before the election, and then secondly, around

16

increasing the speed and accuracy of counting ballots,

17

especially absentee ballots.

18

I ’m going to share some relevant polling that w e ’ve done

19

nationally and in the Commonwealth about these ideas and

20

about elections in general.

21

First, to increase legislative oversight

So along with these solutions

Just to start there for a moment, the big

22

takeaway from the polling as we talk to voters is that they

23

don’t want to look backwards.

24

past elections, but they do feel like the past elections

25

have shown some concerns and some problem that they want

They don’t want to prosecute
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1

fix so that they can trust future elections.

2

percent or 7 in 10 Americans what you to seize this moment

3

and take action to close loopholes to restore their

4

confidence for the next election.

5

party lines.

6

stripes want to believe that elections are run in an open

7

and transparent manner.

8

vote but hard to cheat if you will.

9

Seventy

And that’s true across

The simple truth is that Americans of all

They believe it should be easy to

I live just a couple of States over in Indiana,

10

and on election morning I stood in line with about 100

11

other people.

12

long line, stretched out in the church lobby six feet apart

13

with our masks on.

14

w e ’ve ever done, but the people around me were not there to

15

be comfortable.

16

the system work, right?

17

work.

18

participate.

19

whether the results were fair and accurate.

20

It was 6:45 a.m.

It was cold.

We were in a

It wasn’t the most comfortable thing

They were there because they want to make
The voters want to make the system

And they’re willing to deal with some hassle to
But what they don’t want to worry about is

In any major election year but especially in a

21

year like 2020, campaigns and outside parties are going to

22

use extraordinary circumstances like a pandemic to ask

23

courts to make changes to the election process.

24

certainly Pennsylvania was no exception.

25

such as the court decision to allow ballots received after

And

You had changes
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1

election day to still be counted or new guidance on whether

2

to allow voters to cure mismatched signatures or the

3

decision that signatures didn’t need to be matched for a

4

ballot to be verified, and so on.

5

as if the National Football League sent out a ruling an

6

hour before a game in November saying that teams get five

7

tries to make a first down instead of four.

8

would probably still beat the Cowboys, but there would be a

9

lot of confusion in those games that day.

10

It was a little bit like

The Eagles

Parties, candidates, and election officials often

11

get to be in those courtrooms when the last-minute

12

decisions are made.

13

the rural communities or the inner-city working moms?

14

Well, you could but only if you have a seat at the table.

15

So other States have adopted two reforms that I would urge

16

you to consider.

17

authority for legislative bodies to have automatic standing

18

to intervene in election-related cases.

19

to require legislative approval for any consent decrees or

20

settlement agreements in election law cases.

21

But who’s in those rooms to speak for

The first is to provide explicit

And the second is

So last fall, as you well know, the Senate and

22

House leadership caucuses were granted permission to

23

intervene in some of the lawsuits but not all of them.

In

24

one case only the Senate caucus was able to intervene.

In

25

a second case they both were allowed, but in the third case
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1

neither was allowed to have a seat at the table.

2

Wisconsin tackled this issue in 2018 by passing a

3

law that provided automatic standing in a court case about

4

a State law or rule.

5

the Federal Seventh Circuit cited that law in allowing the

6

legislature to intervene in a lawsuit seeking to waive the

7

election date deadline for absentee ballots.

8

the U.S. Supreme Court sided with the legislature and kept

9

that deadline in place.

10

And that paid off this last year when

Ultimately,

Third parties have also used consent decrees and

11

settlement agreements to change established State laws, and

12

this occurred most recently in Georgia last summer when a

13

consent decree made some pretty substantive changes to the

14

election process without any opportunity for the

15

legislature to weigh in.

16

So the solution here is to require legislative

17

approval for all settlements and consent decrees about

18

election laws.

19

and Oklahoma all have this type of law on the books.

20

not a Republican or Democrat solution.

21

solution, as demonstrated by these various States.

22

Wisconsin, Arizona, Connecticut, Nebraska,
It's

It's just a good

And Pennsylvania voters overwhelmingly agree that

23

they want the legislature to keep watch over the election

24

process.

25

election officials held accountable, to follow the rules

Nearly 9 out of 10 Pennsylvania voters want
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1

with penalties for misconduct.

2

seat at the table speaking on their behalf.

3

They want you to have a

Let me just talk for a moment about the absentee

4

ballot process.

5

last November, Ohio had counted the majority of its 6

6

million ballots, which included about 3.5 million

7

absentees.

8

about 4.8 million absentees.

9

morning only about half of the absentee ballots had been

Midmorning on the day after election day

It was similar in Florida, which had counted
But here in Pennsylvania that

10

counted so far, and that was, again, Wednesday morning, the

11

day after election day.

12

So I want to focus on five reforms that could

13

help speed up that ballot count without reducing security.

14

Number one is to reduce errors on the front end of the

15

process by abandoning the practice of prefilled ballot

16

applications.

17

out prefilled ballot applications.

18

often full of errors, so it leads to mismatches, confusion,

19

and slows down the processing of those absentees.

20

why North Carolina and a couple of other States have banned

21

the practice, although groups can still send out blank

22

absentee ballot applications, just not prefilled.

23

other States currently have pending legislation to follow

24

North Carolina’s lead.

25

So this is where a third-party group mails
Unfortunately, they’re

That’s

And nine

The second reform is, as has been mentioned
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1

before, to double the amount of time election boards have

2

to confirm the information on those absentee ballot

3

application taking it from 7 to 15 days.

4

mentioned, seven days is just not enough time to give

5

confidence to voters that they can get that ballot and have

6

it submitted and have it counted on time.

7

would give some breathing room.

8
9

As has been

Fifteen days

The third reform is to clarify the legislature’s
intent on whether a mismatched signature is grounds for

10

disqualifying the ballot.

11

on both sides of this issue.

12

have an inconsistent standard where ballots are treated

13

differently among counties.

14

experience should be the same in every part of the State.

15

And so if you do require the signatures to match, then I

16

would strongly recommend you also create a uniform

17

signature curing process.

18

yourself up to last-minute lawsuits on the issue and the

19

kind of game-changing court decisions that caused the

20

confusion and inconsistency at the end.

21

process, however, can easily become a partisan ballot

22

harvesting game if not constructed well with party

23

activists in a race to knock on more doors and cure more

24

signatures before the election is certified.

25

real killer for voter faith in elections.

And you can make good arguments
But the worst outcome is to

Voters believe that the voting

Otherwise, you just open

So a curing

And that’s a
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So, instead, a good cure process has the

2

following three elements:

3

and no harvesting.

4

matching needs to start five to seven days before election

5

day, so notices can be sent to voters by email or text if

6

they have a signature issue that could disqualify their

7

ballot.

8

very timely cutoff after election day to cure their

9

signature so it doesn’t delay the count.

And in Florida

10

that’s just two days after election day.

But because they

11

get that early notice before election day, they still have

12

plenty of time to cure the signature.

13

just no harvesting.

14

go knock on doors to cure signatures.

15

first two right, you really shouldn’t need that anyway.

16

early warning, early deadline,

Early warning means that signature

Early deadline means that voters should have a

And then finally,

Third parties should not be allowed to
And if you do the

Our fourth recommendation is to require a witness

17

signature on ballot envelopes.

18

security measure, it won’t slow down the count, and it

19

works.

20

in uncovering a major absentee ballot fraud scheme in North

21

Carolina’s Ninth District.

22

simply made it much harder for a person to sign a bunch of

23

ballots, and it made it much easier for investigators to

24

see the pattern of fraud.

25

requirement, it just, again, simple measure, increases

It’s a really low-cost

So just three years ago it was the difference-maker

A witness requirement just

So adding a witness signature
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security.

2

including Wisconsin.

3

Many other States have this requirement,

So a final reform, and this kind of reinforces

4

what’s been said earlier, is to have election boards begin

5

processing or pre-canvassing ballot envelopes in advance of

6

election day but with appropriate security in place, so

7

starting with bipartisan observation of it.

8

did make a huge difference in Florida’s ability to get an

9

accurate count on election night as compared to the count

This really

10

that dragged on in neighboring Georgia.

11

far preferable to some of the other suggestions that might

12

be made around how to deal with the avalanche or the flood

13

of absentee ballots such as moving the deadline.

14

election day should still remain the deadline for any

15

ballots except overseas and military, and the overwhelming

16

majority of Pennsylvania voters agree with that.

17

Nearly as many,

And this change is

So

65 percent, agree that processing

18

or pre-canvassing should be allowed with the right security

19

protocols because there are security risks to opening those

20

envelopes ahead of time, but again, the alternative is to

21

have all that, the lengthy counting process after election

22

day, which really makes voters wonder what’s going on and

23

feeds into the rumors that something is wrong.

24

election day canvassing should be restricted to only

25

verifying and organizing the ballot envelopes, no counting

Pre
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before election day, and it should only happen in

2

monitored, secured government buildings with party

3

observers on hand.

4

So with that, I'll close.

I commend you again

5

for taking the time that you have more than any other State

6

in looking at all of what actually happened and having this

7

kind of discussion, very, very valuable to me and certainly

8

will be as you begin your deliberations.

9

privilege of sharing with you, and we stand ready to assist

10

you in any way that we can.

Thank you.

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

11

I appreciate the

Thank you, Jonathan.

12

We really appreciate your testimony, and obviously, we look

13

forward to working with all stakeholders to improve our

14

election system moving forward.
With that, we will move on to our next testifier,

15
16

Amber McReynolds, CEO of the National Vote at Home

17

Institute.

18

your camera and say a few words so we can bring you up on

19

the screen.

20

Amber, if you could turn on your microphone and

MS. MCREYNOLDS:

Great, thank you, Chairman

21

Grove, and thank you to all Members of the Committee for

22

the opportunity to talk to you today about election -

23
24
25

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

Hold on real quick.

We've got to swear you in real quick.
MS. MCREYNOLDS:

Okay.

Sure.
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1

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

I ’m sorry.

2
3

(Witness sworn.)

4
5
6

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

Thank you so much, and

the floor is yours.

7

MS. MCREYNOLDS:

Thank you, Chairman Grove, and

8

thank you, Members of the Committee,

for the opportunity to

9

talk with you today about elections in the Commonwealth of

10

Pennsylvania.

11

and I ’m with the National Vote at Home Institute and

12

Coalition.

13

technical experts dedicated to increasing access to voting

14

options for every voter and improving vote-by-mail and

15

other election systems within the process.

16

For the record, my name is Amber McReynolds,

We are a nonpartisan, nonprofit group of

As former Director of Elections for the city and

17

county of Denver, I ran all methods of voting and

18

transitioned various voting systems and technology systems

19

over my 13 years as a local election official.

20

saw how impactful and secure a vote-at-home system is for

21

both voters and election officials alike, and I look

22

forward to diving into a few components that Pennsylvania

23

could look at updating and adding to your current

24

operations.

25

Further, I

Pennsylvania made historic and necessary changes
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to the Commonwealth’s voting systems through the passage of

2

Act 77 in 2019 and Act 12 of 2020.

3

Home Institute appreciates the thorough examination of

4

elections in Pennsylvania and hopes to act as a further

5

resource to U.S. progress as considered by the General

6

Assembly.

7

The National Vote at

We believe that elections should always be fair,

8

accessible, secure, transparent, equitable, and reliable.

9

All of those values matter equally in the election process.

10

It is a tall order, but voters deserve elections and

11

policies that meet all of those criteria.

12

voter election policies that we know the General Assembly

13

is working on, we know that election officials in the

14

Commonwealth can deliver on that order.

With sound pro

15

In terms of fairness, this is a highly partisan

16

environment in the campaign space, and it is important to

17

remember that elections are not just about who wins or

18

loses but, more importantly, it’s about who votes.

19

election gives all eligible voters adequate opportunity to

20

cast their ballots, ensures the security of the election,

21

and affirms the validity of the results of the election.

22

It also includes equal application of laws and rules across

23

the State, whether that pertains to curing ballots,

24

accepting postmarked ballots, or any other policy that

25

might be on the books for the Commonwealth.

A fair

Accessible
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1

means voters, no matter their circumstances, deserve a

2

variety of options when casting their ballots so that they

3

can exercise their vote in a safe and secure way.

4

voters would have choice in their voting process to vote in

5

a safe way, and Pennsylvania expanded that choice when they

6

passed Act 77.

Ideally,

7

Further, w e ’ve seen that the use of mail ballots

8

increases the turnout or closes the turnout gap for voters

9

with disabilities primarily because many voters that have

10

disabilities or other challenges have transportation gaps

11

more than anything to get to the actual polling place.

12

those who choose to receive a mail ballot, there should be

13

a variety of return methods.

14

ballot through the Postal Service, voters should also be

15

able to return their ballot at a polling place, an early

16

voting location, local election office, or at secure 24/7

17

boxes placed throughout the community and that have been

18

used in many States around the country for decades.

19

of all abilities should also have in-person voting options

20

both on election day and during the early voting period.

21

This ensures that those who want to or need to vote in

22

person have sufficient options.

23

For

In addition to returning the

Voters

Numerous security measures like barcoded ballot

24

envelopes to utilize ballot tracking and signature

25

verification ensures that voters can feel confident in the
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process of voting by any method that is not compromised.

2

Maintaining election security involves implementing best

3

practices at all levels of election administration from

4

chain-of-custody logs for ballots, risk-limiting audits for

5

election results postelection, and more to ensure that

6

there are no errors that could impact the results of the

7

election.

8

Further, ballot tracking, as I mentioned, is a

9

security enhancement, and it adds accountability for mail

10

ballots and it gives voters confidence in the delivery of

11

their mail ballot and the return of their mail ballot once

12

it goes back to the election office.

13

Signature verification can be a helpful tool in

14

ensuring that the ballot received by election officials was

15

indeed cast by the correct voter and has been the most

16

widely used verification method for mail ballots for

17

decades.

18

financial institutions when checks are being deposited.

19

With any signature verification process, it is strongly

20

advised that there is an accompanying effective cure

21

process.

22

with missing or mismatched signatures, as well as ballots

23

missing a secrecy sleeve.

24

only a few States that reject a ballot for missing a

25

secrecy sleeve.

This method is similar to that used by many

Pennsylvania should allow voters to cure ballots

In fact, Pennsylvania is one of
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While some counties in Pennsylvania conducted

2

signature verification during the 2020 primary, it was

3

ruled that they could not continue to reject ballots due to

4

signature mismatch without also having a cure process in

5

place.

6

Pennsylvania should implement both a signature verification

7

process and a cure process as soon as possible.

8
9

This only strengthens the argument that

Chain-of-custody logs are another security
measure as they closely track the movement of ballots to

10

ensure that they are always accounted for and never

11

tampered with.

12

should be used when drop boxes are being emptied, when

13

ballots are being transported from one location to the

14

central operation, et cetera.

15

These chain-of-custody logs and processes

Pennsylvania could also benefit from the

16

continued implementation of risk-limiting audits, which are

17

postelection tabulation audits in which a random sample of

18

voted ballots are manually examined for evidence that the

19

originally reported outcome of the election is correct.

20

Pennsylvania has already taken many steps to do these

21

audits by making all voting machines have a paper trail and

22

just did a risk-limiting audit post the 2020 election.

23

State is currently piloting audits in most jurisdictions,

24

and we watched that just happen after the 2020 cycle.

25

only are risk-limiting audits the gold standard, but they

The

Not
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1

are also popular with voters.

2

Americans support States doing an audit of their election

3

results, and risk-limiting audits are in fact the gold

4

standard.

5

The vast majority of

Transparent elections create trust between

6

election officials and voters.

7

a series of best practices to ensure that elections are

8

transparent, including but not limited to live streaming of

9

county processes, which we saw happen in Philadelphia,

Our organization recommends

10

providing press tours and public tours of election

11

facilities during the election, allowing for poll watchers,

12

and implementing ballot tracking.

13

across the political spectrum have implemented these

14

policies with great success.

15

States and counties

Ballot tracking in particular has been found to

16

increase voter trust as it allows voters to track their

17

ballot just like they would a package.

18

of voters support online ballot tracking as a modern voter

19

convenience.

20

process because voters can be notified immediately via text

21

or via email if there is an issue with their ballot.

22

In fact, 83 percent

It is also good policy to pair with the cure

The equitable application of these policies makes

23

them work for all voters, not just for voters who can take

24

time off work, who have adequate transportation to the

25

polls, or do not need any sort of accommodation.

Ensuring
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that our elections are equitable includes implementing many

2

of the policies I ’ve just described, including cure

3

processes, signature verification, equitable allocation of

4

secure drop boxes and voting locations, sufficient funding

5

for elections, and staffing polling places.

6

comprehensive approach, Pennsylvania can make sure that no

7

voter is forced to wait an undue amount of time just simply

8

to exercise their right to vote.

9

With this

Finally, reliable elections are absolutely

10

paramount in the values that I mentioned at the beginning.

11

Those States with systems that mail all eligible voters a

12

ballot and offer a variety of in-person options, as well as

13

ballot return options, responded well in the pandemic.

14

Voters in those States were more able to safely cast their

15

ballots without causing undue strain on election officials

16

and without emergency action from decision-makers.

17

Pennsylvania has an opportunity to expand the choice that

18

voters have with the use of mail ballots and modernizing

19

that process while also ensuring that the election is

20

reliable and that voters can access it.

21

many of the components that make up a good, reliable

22

system, and now it’s a matter of continuing to improve

23

those policies on the books.

24
25

Pennsylvania has

In addition to the voting tenets described,

I ’d

like to highlight a few additional areas for improvement
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that we feel would benefit voters and election officials in

2

Pennsylvania.

3

to preprocess ballots at least 14 days before election day

4

and ideally upon receipt.

5

few States that do not currently allow election officials

6

to start doing their jobs and processing ballots in advance

7

of election day, and that created significant issues for

8

Pennsylvania in 2020.

9

an impressive job spending long nights continuing to

First, election officials should be allowed

Pennsylvania is one of only a

While election officials in 2020 did

10

process ballots as quickly as they could, these actions

11

should not be necessary.

12

before Pennsylvania can institute other security measures

13

such as -- or in addition to implementing other security

14

measures such as signature verification.

15

election officials to designate a ballot as received,

16

verify signatures, and give voters the option to cure any

17

of the deficiencies, Pennsylvania would increase security

18

of its election, lighten the burden on election officials,

19

and ensure that all voters have an opportunity to return

20

their ballot and ensure that it’s counted.

21

Preprocessing is a crucial step

By allowing

Additionally, Pennsylvania should look into a

22

more structured rulemaking process to ensure that the

23

Secretary of State can provide proper uniformly applied

24

guidance in a timely manner for election officials.

25

part of the rulemaking process, there should be a clear

As
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timeline and way for election officials at the local level

2

to weigh in on rules before they are finalized.

3

We also recommend an emergency rulemaking process

4

for when rules are needed to address issues that arise

5

after the regular rulemaking process has ended and a new

6

rule may be essential for an upcoming election or in

7

response to any natural disasters.

8

process allows for additional details of election

9

administration to be implemented and to be clarified and

A robust rulemaking

10

codified.

11

legislation, it may be excessive, so the rulemaking process

12

that many States are currently utilizing gives the chief

13

election officials and local officials an ability to

14

implement those technical details that may fall outside of

15

the legislative process.

16

If this level of detail were included in

Finally, election officials are responsible for

17

educating the public about their voting options.

18

the experts, and they are also the most trusted sources of

19

election information among the voting public.

20

that reduces their ability to communicate to voters or

21

share information is detrimental to them being able to do

22

their jobs effectively.

23

attacks on election officials while they are administering

24

the process is also destructive.

25

provisions must include protection of the administrators

They are

Anything

Similarly, disinformation and

Election security
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doing their jobs to deliver the service of elections to the

2

public.

3

No election system is perfect, and this is why it

4

is critical to continually review and improve systems by

5

enhancing security, enhancing access and transparency,

6

particularly in this unprecedented time.

7

shared DNA of our Nation.

8

ensure that it works for all even in the most trying times

9

like a pandemic.

10

Democracy is the

We must do everything we can to

Thank you for the consideration of this

11

testimony.

12

Coalition looks forward to the opportunity to act as a

13

resource to the General Assembly as you consider further

14

enhancements to elections in the Commonwealth of

15

Pennsylvania.

16

The National Vote at Home Institute and

Thank you so much.

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

Thank you so much, Ms.

17

McReynolds.

18

your input and value you as a stakeholder moving forward as

19

we address our elections here in Pennsylvania.

20

very much.

21

We really appreciate your testimony and value

Before we move on to the next testifier, we want

22

to recognize Representative Diamond.

23

and introduce yourself?

24
25

Thank you

REPRESENTATIVE DIAMOND:
but I'm here now.

Do you want to say hi

I already did online,

Representative Russ Diamond from the
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102nd District in Lebanon county, the home of Lebanon

2

bologna.

3
4

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

Always a great

introduction.

5

Our next testifier is Hans von Spakovsky,

6

Manager, Election Law Reform Initiative, and Senior Legal

7

Fellow, Institute for Constitutional Government, the

8

Heritage Foundation.

9

your -

10
11

Hans, if you could unmute and turn on

MR. VON SPAKOVSKY:
that.

12

Mr. Chairman, I have done

Can you see and hear me now?
MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

13

right.

14

could raise your right hand.

15

MR. VON SPAKOVSKY:

Awesome.

There you are.

All

W e ’ll swear you in real quick if you

Sure.

16
17

(Witness sworn.)

18
19
20
21

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

And the floor is yours,

sir.
MR. VON SPAKOVSKY:

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

22

appreciate the invitation to testify here today.

23

say I ’m testifying in my personal capacity and not on

24

behalf of the Heritage Foundation.

25

Look, the number one goal of legislators

I

I have to
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[inaudible] things when it comes to elections, access and

2

security.

3

both full access and you can have security.

4

security does not prevent [inaudible].

5

-- and I hate to say [inaudible] about this, but your State

6

has a long history of election fraud.

7

just settled a case finally agreed to take 20,000

8

individuals who are dead but have been on the voter rolls

9

for years off the rolls.

One does not prevent the other.

You can have
And having

Now, unfortunately

You know, the State

One of your prior [inaudible] of

10

State had to resign after it was admitted by the State that

11

[inaudible] thousands of aliens were being registered on

12

the rolls without anyone realizing that.

13

Our election fraud database that we maintain at

14

the Heritage Foundation, which is just a sampling of cases

15

and not a comprehensive list, has cases from Pennsylvania

16

on everything [inaudible] from ballot fraud to

17

impersonation fraud at the polls.

18

the 1993 special Senate election that was overturned in

19

Pennsylvania, which [inaudible] party controlled the State

20

Senate, and it was overturned because of widespread

21

absentee ballot fraud.

22

in Philadelphia pled guilty to accepting bribes to stuff

23

fraudulent ballads into voting machines there for multiple

24

candidates, and he had done it in multiple elections.

25

not too long after he pleaded guilty, the U.S. attorney

I ’m sure you remember

Just last year, an Election Judge

And
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indicted a former Congressman, Michael

2

who is now a political consultant, as the individual who

3

was bribing him to do that.

4

that you need to deal with.

5

[inaudible] Myers,

So all of these are issues

I ’ve not submitted written testimony, but what I

6

did submit was a fact sheet that Heritage published on

7

February 1st.

8

Integrity and the Need for States to Fix Their Election

9

Systems."

It’s called "The Facts about Election

It contains a long series of recommendations on

10

how we believe States should fix the vulnerabilities in

11

their system.

12

at a think tank now, I ’ve been a county election official

13

in two different States, in both Virginia and Georgia, so

14

I ’ve got on-the-ground experience in elections, including

15

voter registration, running elections on election day.

16

And I should tell you that while I do work

But there’s a whole series of recommendations in

17

that fact sheet.

18

Probably the most basic security measure you need and that

19

every State needs is requiring an ID to vote both in person

20

and by absentee ballot.

21

this in has also put in a provision that provides a free ID

22

to anyone that doesn’t have one.

23

these ID requirements in place, places like Georgia,

24

Indiana, and elsewhere, for example, Georgia and Indiana,

25

their laws have in place since 2008, and as opposed to the

I ’m just going to cover a few of them.

Every single State that has put

The States that have put
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constant claim you hear that this depresses turnout, in

2

fact, that did not happen in either State.

3

increased dramatically and they've had record turnout, and

4

that’s been the general experience of other States with ID

5

requirements.

6

Turnout

You also need a process in place to verify

7

citizenship.

8

officials verifying information against DMV, so the

9

individuals who come in to get a driver's license and do so

That includes everything from election

10

as aliens, for example, aliens who are in the country

11

legally, they check that information to make sure that

12

person has not registered to vote.

13

election officials should not be using the E-Verify system.

14

You know, every employer in Pennsylvania, as in the rest of

15

the country, under Federal law has to verify that someone

16

they're hiring is either a U.S. citizen or an alien who is

17

here legally and has a work permit.

18

the State not to use that kind of information.

19

There's also no reason

There's no reason for

You should also be using jury lists for exactly

20

the same thing.

21

by your State courts, they have to answer under oath a

22

series of questions, including are you a citizen of the

23

United States?

24

get their jury list usually from voter registration lists.

25

When someone's excused from jury duty, that information

When individuals are called for jury duty

Yet the court, as far as I'm aware, they
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1

needs to be sent back to election officials so that person

2

can be taken off the rolls, as well as if they're excused

3

because they are a felon and potentially have not had the

4

right to vote restored or if they've moved out of the

5

State.

6

should receive.

That's all information that election officials

And not only should you require the State courts

7
8

to do that, but you should realize that Federal courts in

9

every State, they go to your State election officials and

10

ask for your State voter registration list because that's

11

what they used to call people for Federal jury duty.

12

you should condition providing that information to Federal

13

courts on them sending back to you information on anyone

14

called for Federal jury duty who is excused for the same

15

reasons, they're not a U.S. citizen, they've moved out of

16

State, et cetera.

17

getting.

And

That's all information you should be

18

Your voter registration list needs to be

19

redesigned so it is interoperable with other State

20

databases so that election officials can, as frequently as

21

possible, at least on a monthly basis, run data comparisons

22

not just with DMV but with your vital records department,

23

with your corrections department, and other State agencies

24

that have information affecting both the eligibility of

25

voters and their location.

This actually is going to be a
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benefit to voters so that, for example, if someone goes in

2

to get a new driver’s license because they had changed

3

residential addresses, that should be tied into the

4

election system so that their voter registration address

5

will also be changed for them so that they don’t show up at

6

a new polling place and they’re still registered at the old

7

one.

8
9

States also are not taking advantage of -- I
should say counties are not taking advantage of things like

10

county tax records.

11

what is the number-one goal of county governments in

12

Pennsylvania and frankly every other State?

13

collect property taxes because that’s what pays for county

14

government services.

15

information on every single address in the county, and yet

16

election officials are not taking advantage of that in

17

almost every State.

18

that?

19

almost every State is individuals who are registering to

20

vote, actually not registering at a residential address,

21

which is a requirement under the law, even though that is

22

essential.

23

they check with county tax records, they will find out if

24

someone who was registered, if it’s a commercial address,

25

if it’s a vacant lot, if it’s a U.S. post office, things

And what do I mean by that?

Look,

It’s to

That means that they have detailed

How should they take advantage of

Well, one of the problems that we have found in

And they’re not checking that.

Obviously, if
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that would affect the voter registration.

2

they should be checking those records.

Additionally,

3

Can you all still hear me?

4

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

Yes, we can.

5

REPRESENTATIVE KENYATTA:

Unfortunately.

6

MR. VON SPAKOVSKY:

7

I ’m sorry, was that a comment

directed at me?

8

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

9

MR. VON SPAKOVSKY:

Go ahead.

Thank you.

Look, when a new

10

registration comes in, again, they should be checking

11

county tax records to see, one, is it really a residential

12

home or is it a commercial industrial property where you’re

13

not allowed to register, but they also should be checking

14

it to see whether, for example, if it is a single-family

15

home, then they should be checking the registration list to

16

see how many other people are registered at that address

17

because if that check shows that 40 people are registered

18

at a single-family home, that should be a red flag to

19

election officials that they need to investigate because

20

there’s a potential there that individuals who no longer

21

live there are still registered there or that

22

individuals -- there have been fraudulent registrations

23

submitted.

24
25

On absentee ballots, I want to support some of
the testimony done earlier by Jonathan Bechtle.

You do
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1

need a witness signature requirement.

2

security measure for absentee ballots.

3

sure that you ban vote trafficking.

4

harvesting.

5

deliver their absentee ballot themselves or a member of

6

their family, a designated caregiver.

7

party strangers, political consultants, party activists,

8

campaign staffers to get their hands on absentee ballots

9

risks not only those ballots being altered or changed, as

That is a basic
You should also be

Others call it vote

Obviously, an individual need to be able to

But allowing third-

10

happened in North Carolina in the Ninth Congressional

11

District race in 2018, but it risks allowing those same

12

individuals, again, who have a stake in the outcome of the

13

election, to pressure and coerce voters in their homes

14

where there’s no election official to prevent that from

15

happening.

16

You need to be sure that observers have full

17

access to the entire process.

18

of a good election.

19

need to have complete and full access, and that means being

20

able to actually see what is going on, not being put so far

21

away that they cannot observe actually what’s happening.

22

And frankly, you need to put procedures in so that election

23

officials who break that law, who don’t allow observers to

24

observe, are disciplined or possibly terminated for doing

25

that because, look, that’s why the U.S. Government sends

Transparency is the hallmark

Observers from both political parties

55
1

observers all over the world through State Department

2

programs because that kind of transparency is essential to

3

fair and secure elections.

4
5

I will end there.

I will be happy to answer any

questions, Mr. Chairman, if there are any.

6

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

Thank you, Mr. von

7

Spakovsky.

We don't have any questions, but we appreciate

8

your testimony today.

9

forward to working with all stakeholders to improve our

We appreciate your time, and we look

10

election laws moving forward.

11

today.

So thank you for your time

12

MR. VON SPAKOVSKY:

13

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

14

Next testifier is Mr. Khalif Ali, Executive

Thank you for having me.

15

Director, Common Cause Pennsylvania.

16

on your video and your sound?

17

MR. ALI:

18

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

Will do.

Mr. Ali, can you turn

Okay.
There you are, perfect.

19

And let me swear you in real quick if you could raise your

20

right hand.

21
22

(Witness sworn.)

23
24
25

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

Thank you for your

testimony this morning, and the floor is yours.
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MR. ALI:

Thank you.

Good morning.

Thank you

2

for the opportunity to appear before the Committee today as

3

a member of the stakeholder community.

4

stand before you and speak on behalf of Common Cause PA and

5

our 34,000 members across all 67 counties.

6

I'm honored to

Common Cause Pennsylvania is a nonpartisan good-

7

government organization dedicated to holding power

8

accountable to the people.

9

speak at the end of this series of hearings focused on our

We have a unique opportunity to

10

elections.

11

our democracy and this year we witnessed that firsthand.

12

Despite incredible challenges, a global pandemic, limited

13

staff and funding, we saw a record number of Pennsylvanians

14

participate in our democracy and cast our ballots.

15

it was at their kitchen table, at a satellite election

16

office or at our local polling place, Pennsylvanians made

17

our voices heard.

18

As we know, elections are the cornerstone of

Whether

The bipartisan work that the Pennsylvania

19

legislature did on Act 77 and Act 12 made that possible,

20

and we thank you.

21

being cast in 2020, we also saw a disturbing trend in the

22

politics of our Nation, the intentional sowing of distrust

23

in the election process, causing people to question what

24

their government does for them.

25

Franklin & Marshall College found that a majority of voters

While we saw a record number of votes

A recent poll taken by
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in both parties are committed to democratic principles.

2

also found that most voters in Pennsylvania do not believe

3

that American democracy is working as well as it should.

4

What do we do with this information?

It

In some

5

States, like Georgia, we see legislatures limiting access

6

to the ballot box and making it more difficult for the

7

people’s voice to be heard by the people’s government.

8

Federal legislation is being discussed.

9

done here in Pennsylvania with all the eyes of the Nation

But what should be

10

on us?

11

that every voter is able to cast a ballot regardless of ZIP

12

code, proximity to public transportation, disability, or

13

language access needs.

14

to -- and should -- have a say in deciding which people and

15

policies will determine the future for our families,

16

community, and country.

17

What we can and must do to increase trust is ensure

Every eligible Pennsylvanian wants

W e ’re encouraged to see how this Committee has

18

shown its complete commitment to access and transparency in

19

holding these hearings.

20

each meeting is streamed and made available to the folks at

21

home, that each meeting is recorded and posted for later

22

access, and that Pennsylvanians are now able to participate

23

in the process through the use of an online form.

24

Committee has increased access for public participation

25

because transparency encourages trust.

Chairman Grove has ensured that

This

That is what we
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1

must do with the election code moving forward.

2

Pennsylvania voters are engaged and have an

3

appetite for change, that’s clear.

4

call and meet expectations not with the repeal of voting

5

access, but with increased accessibility.

6

are not going to have faith in our government if there are

7

new barriers to participation.

8

Georgia’s anti-voter legislation shows exactly that:

9

Cutting access leads to greater distrust.

10

We must answer this

Pennsylvanians

The public reaction to

Public confidence in our government is more

11

important now than it has ever been.

12

trust their government, not the government questioning if

13

they can trust their people.

14

Pennsylvania voters with the freedom to choose how to

15

participate in our own government for the first time in

16

decades.

17

government for the people can come together in a bipartisan

18

fashion and increase voter access.

19

We need the people to

Act 77 and Act 12 provided

Those pieces of legislation showed that a

Elections are not a partisan issue; they are a

20

people issue.

21

when more people participate in it.

22

Committee and the legislature must uphold the bipartisan

23

legacy of expanding voting access over time.

24

Act 12 were the first steps in this legacy.

25

the opportunity to cement it in history, not with limits to

Our government by the people is stronger
The Members of this

Act 77 and
You now have
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existing law, but by expanding on what’s already there.

2

Common Cause PA has some recommendations on how

3

to expand voter participation.

4

administration is a highly technical field where competing

5

priorities often bump up against a general need for

6

additional resources.

7

and admiration for the professionals who do this incredibly

8

difficult task, made exceedingly more difficult with the

9

spread of disinformation.

10

We understand that election

We want to share our sincere respect

Thank you to all the county election officials,

11

and especially to the dedicated staff at the Department of

12

State.

13

listen to our voters.

14

can assist both and make changes that matter.

15

We can and must support our elections officials and
It’s not an either-or scenario; we

For the first time this past year, all

16

Pennsylvania voters had the option to vote by mail.

17

Already this year, over half a million voters have signed

18

up to receive a vote-by-mail ballot.

19

proved to be an incredible resource to hundreds of

20

thousands of Pennsylvanians, including essential workers

21

such as doctors and nurses and other hospital staff who do

22

not work standard hours.

23

Assembly for making this change, further improvements can

24

be made to ensure that all voters who want to can access

25

vote-by-mail.

This new option has

While we applaud the General

Specifically, we recommend the following:
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Extending vote-by-mail ballot receipt deadlines.

2

Currently, a voter's ballot must be received by the county

3

by 8:00 p.m. on election night.

4

improvement from the previous absentee ballot deadline, it

5

still does not go far enough to ensure that each mail

6

ballot is counted.

7

is not created equal.

8

their ballot will arrive at their county's election office

9

is unrealistic.

While this is an

The speed of each county's mail service
Asking voters to anticipate when

Pennsylvania should allow ballots mailed

10

by election day to be counted if they are received within

11

seven days after election day, the same deadline now used

12

for military and overseas voters.

13

voter participation and a process that is more fair because

14

all Pennsylvanian voters will have the same deadline for

15

mailing our ballots, regardless of where we live.

16

This will allow for more

We also recommend increasing the amount of time

17

each county has to pre-canvass vote-by-mail and absentee

18

ballots.

19

these ballots at 7:00 a.m. on election day.

20

each county has to count several thousand ballots in one

21

sitting.

22

testified thus far, increasing the canvasing time will

23

allow for counties to spread out the counting of ballots

24

and decrease the number of workers or machines needed to

25

count these ballots, giving county elections workers much-

Currently, the counties can only start canvassing
This means

As we've heard from each county that has
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needed relief.

2

voter notification and cure process to enable simple

3

mistakes to be fixed and ensure ballots are completed

4

accurately in a uniform policy across the State.

5

This expansion must also allow for a better

We all know that elections are the cornerstone of

6

our democracy.

7

counties and Department of State with sufficient funds to

8

effectively administer elections, particularly in these

9

uncertain and chaotic times.

It is essential that we provide our

Additional funds from the

10

General Assembly would help Election Directors purchase new

11

technology such as high-speed scanners to handle the influx

12

of vote-by-mail ballots, increase their staff, provide poll

13

workers with increased pay, including pay for training on

14

new voting machines, supplement the purchase of PPE for

15

poll workers and polling places, and more.

16

Assembly should provide additional funds for counties and

17

the Department of State to carry out that mission.

18

This General

Allow early in-person voting to relieve

19

congestion at polling locations and give voters with

20

challenging work schedules or for family situations the

21

chance to choose the time that works best for them.

22

will give counties relief from an influx of voters on

23

election day while also providing more access to voters.

24
25

Permit same-day voter registration.

This

We know that

most residents do not become engaged in elections until the
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1

final weeks, when campaigns reach their peak.

2

same-day registration would allow for more voters to access

3

the ballot and would allow the 12 percent of Pennsylvanians

4

who move each year and who may have forgotten to update

5

their voter registrations to cast ballots and have them

6

counted.

7

Permitting

Finally, to establish vote centers, giving voters

8

the chance to cast an in-person ballot where it is most

9

convenient and relieve county pressure on poll worker

10

recruitment.

11
12

Thank you again for the opportunity to present
this testimony.

13

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

Thank you so much, Mr.

14

Ali.

15

forward to working with you and all the stakeholders as we

16

advance election reforms here in the Commonwealth, so thank

17

you again.

18

page, I enjoyed going back-and-forth with them.

19

my best.

We really appreciate your testimony, and we look

And, by the way, whoever handles your Twitter
Give them

20

MR. ALI:

21

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

22

Our next testifier is Scott Walter, President,

Will do, thank you.
Thank you.

23

the Capital Research Center.

24

your camera and unmute and say a few words so we can bring

25

you up.

Scott, if you could turn on
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1
2

MR. WALTER:

Hello, it’s Scott Walter.

Thanks

for having me.

3

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

4

right.

5

you in.

There we go.

All

If you could raise your right hand and w e ’ll swear

6
7

(Witness sworn.)

8
9
10

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

Thank you.

And the

floor is yours, sir.

11

MR. WALTER:

Well, thank you, Mr. Chairman and

12

Representative Davidson, distinguished Members of the

13

Committee.

14

Walter, President of the Capital Research Center in

15

Washington, D.C., a think tank that’s a watchdog on

16

nonprofits.

17

Pennsylvania girl with deep roots in the Commonwealth.

18

Thanks for letting me testify.

I ’m Scott

I ’m also lucky enough to be the husband of a

Some years ago, living in Pennsylvania,

I learned

19

how many citizens wanted the Commonwealth to privatize

20

liquor stores, yet the political class has refused to

21

privatize the sale of liquor to this day.

22

that no question appears to have been raised in 2020 when

23

one big tech billionaire,

24

nonpartisan nonprofit, effectively privatized the

25

Commonwealth’s elections.

So it amazes me

funding one supposedly

I refer to Facebook CEO Mark
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Zuckerberg and his wife, who funded the Center for Tech and

2

Civic Life or CTCL, which in turn sent millions of dollars

3

straight into local government election offices in

4

Pennsylvania and many other States with strings attached.

5

Personally, I don’t want donors or nonprofits

6

anywhere on the political spectrum manipulating elections

7

through gifts to government offices.

8

testify to you today.

9

to permit private funding of Pennsylvania’s election

That’s the reason I

One would think the question whether

10

offices would be simple, something left and right could

11

agree on:

12

the people’s Representatives, or by one big tech

13

billionaire?

14

Should your States elections be governed by you,

As a student of the left’s role in politics, I ’m

15

amazed anyone left of center would be unsure how to answer.

16

For years, w e ’ve heard left-leaning officials and left-

17

leaning nonprofits decry political donations by

18

billionaires.

19

Alexandria Ocasio-Cortez has objected to the very existence

20

of billionaires.

21

of so-called dark money.

22

Yet here in Washington, prominent Democrat

These attacks typically feature criticism

I ’m sure several Members of this Committee are on

23

the record criticizing it, so let me assure the Committee

24

that the Center for Tech and Civil Life is as dark as they

25

come.

CTCL refused to disclose the hundreds of millions it
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received from Mr. Zuckerberg.

2

knowledge when the donor himself revealed his nine-figure

3

donation.

4

and it’s organized as a 501(c)(3) nonprofit, which can

5

legally avoid revealing any donors.

6

That only became public

CTCL declines to provide its full donor list,

So much worse than because at least CTCL’s

7

darkness about donors is legally permitted, it also refuses

8

to reveal where it’s hundreds of millions went in the last

9

election.

CTCL has admitted that thousands of local

10

election offices in dozens of States received grants of

11

$5,000 or more and has posted a preliminary list of local

12

government offices that received funds.

13

critical question is how much money went to which election

14

offices?

15

though Federal law requires CTCL to report on its public

16

IRS form 990 every grant of $5,000 or more to any

17

government agency.

18

that document until November 2021.

19

these kinds of burning public questions, despite being

20

asked by The New York Times, the Associated Press, National

21

Public Radio, American Public Media,

22

others.

23

examined CTCL’s full list of grantees, as well as news

24

databases and local government reports, to assemble the

25

fullest data set currently available.

But of course the

CTCL refuses to make public that information even

Conveniently, CTCL can delay filing
It’s refused to answer

The New Yorker, and

Nonetheless, we at Capital Research Center have

We think these
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numbers won't change much when the full truth comes out

2

because we've found the grant amounts for most large

3

jurisdictions.

4

We've publicly disclosed all the data we can

5

find, and we published reports for the States of

6

Pennsylvania, Georgia, Michigan, Wisconsin, Texas, Arizona,

7

Nevada, North Carolina, and Virginia.

8

we've examined, it is clear Zuckerberg's funding via CTCL

9

has produced a highly partisan result.

For every State

We first examined

10

the funding in Georgia, and our report was so shocking, the

11

Georgia Senate asked me to testify about it.

12

Consider just a few data points.

In Georgia,

13

CTCL gave grants to nine of the State's 10 counties with

14

the greatest Democratic shifts in their 2020 presidential

15

vote compared to 2016.

16

amazing 13.7 percent shift favoring Democrats.

17

Georgia counties that CTCL funded, the Democratic

18

presidential vote rose by more than 2.5 times the

19

Republican rise in the same counties compared to 2016.

20

This partisan effect in the funded counties produced a

21

democratic advantage of about 323,000 votes in a State

22

whose margin of victory was less than 12,000 votes.

23

Those nine grantees averaged an
In the 44

Now, in Pennsylvania, the same pattern recurs.

24

While CTCL funded slightly more counties, one, by President

25

Trump, 13, then by Vice President Biden, 11, recall that
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1

Biden won only 13 of Pennsylvania’s 67 counties.

2

funded 85 percent of Biden counties compared to 24 percent

3

of Trump counties.

4

times more likely to be funded by CTCL than a Trump-winning

5

county.

6

delivered him 100,000 votes or more.

7

percent of those six counties.

8

that delivered him 100,000 votes or more.

9

percent of those.

10

So CTCL

A Biden-winning county was over 3.5

Biden won six counties across the State that
CTCL funded 100

Trump won four counties
CTCL funded 75

We have data on the grant amounts received by 13

11

of the 24 counties CTCL funded in your State.

12

the highest known funded counties were won by Biden.

13

contrast, four of CTCL’s five least-funded counties were

14

won by Trump.

15

funding disparity.

16

compare the funding per capita.

Trump counties received an

17

average of 59 cents per capita.

Biden counties averaged

18

$2.93 per capita or over five times more funding.

19

richly funded Biden county, Philadelphia, received $6.32

20

for every man, woman, and child compared to a mere $1.12

21

for the most richly funded Trump county, Berks.

22

for every voter who cast a ballot in Philadelphia County,

23

the Democratic election officials there received $13.60.

All five of
By

Even those numbers understate the vast
A more accurate picture arises when we

The most

In fact,

24

When we compare the presidential vote in 2020 to

25

2016 numbers, we find that in the 24 counties CTCL funded,
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266,000 more votes were cast in 2020 for the Republican

2

candidate versus 460,000 more for the Democrat candidate.

3

That partisan difference of about 194,000 votes is more

4

than double Biden’s official victory margin for the entire

5

State.

6

Looking at this increased turnout in percentage

7

terms, we find the median increase in Republican votes in

8

all 24 counties CTCL funded was plus 17 percent 2020 over

9

2016.

The median increase in Democrat votes was plus 27

10

percent.

11

First, CTCL is far more likely to fund election

12

jurisdictions that are rich with Democratic votes.

13

it funds those jurisdictions much more heavily per capita.

14

Third, jurisdictions it funded boosted Democratic turnout

15

far beyond the statewide margin of victory.

16

expert J. Christian Adams sums it up.

17

cash, quote, "converted election offices in key

18

jurisdictions with deep reservoirs of Biden votes into

19

Formula One turnout machines."

20

This pattern repeats in State after State.

Second,

Election

CTCL’s Zuckerberg

It’s hard to square these facts with the Federal

21

requirement the 501(c)(3) nonprofits like CTCL must be

22

nonpartisan at all times, that they may not conduct, quote,

23

"voter education or registration activities that have the

24

effect of favoring a candidate," as the IRS guidance puts

25

it.

Unfortunately,

such nonprofits have for years been
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ignoring Federal law by conducting registration and get-

2

out-the-vote efforts that favor one party.

3

journalist Sasha Issenberg in his 2012 book The Victory

4

Lap:

5

such nonprofit, the Voter Participation Center, that

6

remains prominent in elections to this day.

7

though the group was officially nonpartisan for tax

8

purposes, there was no secret that the goal of all its

9

efforts was to generate new votes for Democrats," close

10
11

Liberal

The Secret Science of Winning Campaigns, wrote of one

Quote,

"Even

quote.
In the case of CTCL, this partisanship shouldn't

12

surprise anybody who consults InfluenceWatch.org to learn

13

its leaders' backgrounds.

14

a 501(c)(4) nonprofit, the New Organizing Institute, which

15

was such a powerful turnout machine that the Washington

16

Post labeled it, quote, "the Democratic Party's Hogwarts

17

for digital wizardry."

18

All its founders first worked at

Both groups, CTCL and New Organizing Institute,

19

are so similar that Capital Research Center created a quiz

20

showing quotations from their two websites and asking

21

readers to guess which group's website said it.

22

is quite difficult.

23

old (c)(4) political nonprofit from the new (c)(3)

24

nonpartisan nonprofit.

25

turnout machines.

The test

It is nearly impossible to tell the

They are both simply Democratic
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Seasoned election observers went into November

2

saying the Pennsylvania was a critical swing State for the

3

presidential election and that Philadelphia would be ground

4

zero for the Democratic candidates’ national hopes.

5

partisans knew this, too, and their investments in

6

Pennsylvania prove it.

7

dealing CTCL had with every Pennsylvania government office.

8

Did the contacts begin from the center side?

9

preconditions did the center put on its funds?

CTCL

I urge you to investigate every

What
Did the

10

counties fulfill their budgetary and other obligations

11

under State law when using those funds?

Who designed voter

12

education materials and advertisements?

Who was hired?

13

Who trained them?

14

would help prevent vote fraud?

15

Was any money spent on training that

Already, as internal records surface from other

16

States’ experiences with CTCL, grave irregularities are

17

being exposed.

18

grant mentor from CTCL was given access to boxes of

19

absentee ballots before the election and, as one local

20

reporter put it, quote, "in many ways became the de facto

21

city elections chief."

22

legal violations of election law were so bad that the city

23

clerk left her job in disgust.

24

grant mentor from CTCL, who’s worked on several Democratic

25

political campaigns, is a State leader for a group you just

For instance, in Green Bay, Wisconsin, a

The irregularities and possible

I regret to say that the

71
1

had testify to you, the National Vote at Home Institute.

2

The problem of illicit nonprofit partisanship is

3

for the U.S. Congress to solve, but the problem of

4

nonprofits hoping to privatize Pennsylvania’s elections is,

5

I respectfully submit, your responsibility.

6

having me speak and for spending so much time looking into

7

these questions.

8
9

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

Thank you for

Thank you, Mr. Walters.

We appreciate your testimony today, and we look forward to

10

working with all stakeholders to improve our election law

11

moving forward.

Thank you for your time today, sir.

12

MR. WALTER:

13

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

Thank you.
Our next testifier is

14

Wesley Gadsden, State Field Director for One Pennsylvania.

15

Mr. Gadsden, if you can click on your microphone and your

16

video, say a few words so we can bring you up on the

17

screen.

18

MR. GADSDEN:

Hello there.

19

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

20

All right, awesome.

21

your right hand real quick for us.

Good morning.
Right, there he is.

We have you, and if you could raise

22
23

(Witness sworn.)

24
25

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

The floor is yours,
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sir.

2

MR. GADSDEN:

Thank you, thank you.

First off, I

3

want to give big thanks to the Majority Chairman Grove,

4

Minority Chairwoman Davidson, and all of the Members of the

5

Committee,

6

Pennsylvania to participate in this hearing and testify

7

about ongoing bipartisan effects and efforts so we have

8

been seeing in our communities.

9

for giving me this opportunity today and One

My name is Wesley Gadsden.

I ’m the State Field

10

Director.

11

we do work across the State of Pennsylvania.

12

Pennsylvania is a multiracial, intergenerational, multi

13

issue organization, and our Members are students, they’re

14

teachers, they’re seniors, they’re folks with disabilities,

15

a little bit of everyone, and w e ’re also a member of the

16

Keystone Votes, which previously has testified before this

17

panel, along with our One Pennsylvania.

18

of bipartisan work with a lot of you all.

19

to really get to the point that the center of our work is

20

civic engagement work.

21

forefront of our members forefront.

22

I ’m based in Pittsburgh, but our organization,
One

W e ’ve done a lot
And I just want

And we put the concerns in the

So I want to talk about a couple of things today

23

that basically we have experienced, that w e ’ve seen over

24

the past year regarding the election, feedback that w e ’ve

25

gotten from members on the ground.

We represent and talk
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to hundreds of thousands of voters throughout the course of

2

the year.

3

of the biggest issues that we see that our members have

4

faced and community members that would make voting

5

accessible and equitable for everyone were satellite

6

election offices, drop boxes, early voting, electronic

7

pollbooks, and also just really having a good system for

8

publicizing polling locations and changes that go into

9

those polling locations.

10

And a few of the different issues that -- some

And so I want to start off with talking about

11

satellite election offices and drop boxes and just how

12

those offices and drop boxes being equitable for everyone

13

for voters across the State is so crucial to give everyone

14

a fair chance of being able to have the same access to be

15

able to vote.

16

We had many members last year and community

17

members, folks that we met -- I'll tell you one specific

18

story.

19

to vote, wasn't registered, and he was really excited about

20

the election.

21

satellite election office, register to vote, and was able

22

to vote.

23

especially in the time of the pandemic, eliminate the

24

amount of lines and people having to wait in line really

25

gives everyone an opportunity to be able to get to the

A young man, it was his first time ever registering

And he was able to easily go right to a

And being able to eliminate that friction,
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polls and not have any trouble getting there, just giving

2

everyone a fair chance to be able to apply for ballots,

3

being able to register for the vote, and being able to

4

address their concerns right then and there instead of

5

having to wait till the last minute.

6

And just to give you another example in regards

7

to like early voting, me personally, I live in Allegheny

8

County.

9

didn't actually realize I had the wrong ballot until I

I was actually mailed the wrong ballot.

And I

10

actually went to go vote.

11

that one of the candidates I wanted to vote for and a

12

ballot initiative wasn’t on the ballot.

13

that I was in an early voting satellite election office,

14

there were people that were there who were able to assist

15

me, able to get me a new ballot so I can actually vote that

16

day, cast my ballot for the right district that I live in.

17

And so just me personally that made a huge difference and

18

made my left a lot easier because I was able to walk right

19

around the corner to that early voting site.

20

I opened it up, and I noticed

For me, the fact

Now, one thing we did see, though, across the

21

State when I talk about equity with early voting is that

22

there wasn’t equity.

23

there were different parts of the State, different counties

24

where, for example, I have a friend who lives up in Venango

25

County about an hour and a half north of Pittsburgh, and my

There were different communities,
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friend early votes, did the early voting -- well, not early

2

voting but she was able to go to her satellite election

3

office, drop off her ballot.

4

her house.

5

opportunity to be able to do that.

6

It was walking distance from

It was there every single day.

She had the

Now, the community I live in, I tell you about

7

the great opportunity and experience I had by being able to

8

utilize the satellite election office before the election

9

to address my concerns.

The unfortunate fact about it is

10

that it was only there for two days.

11

equity, that’s what I mean is the fact that I only had two

12

days out of the entire election to have a satellite

13

election office that was close to me when there’s other

14

boroughs that don’t have it.

15

playing field across the entire State in every county for

16

folks to have the same exact opportunity that I had for

17

those two days.

18

And when I talk about

And it should be a level

And then lastly, electronic pollbooks can really

19

make a big difference and make our lives easier for

20

everyone, for Election Directors when it comes to the

21

satellite election offices and the confusion that voters

22

have with provisional ballots and people being mailed the

23

wrong ballots.

24

to the other provisions that have been made last year.

25

so the electronic pollbooks would eliminate so much

And we have a lot of new laws from Act 77
And
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confusion from someone getting a ballot and voting here or

2

voting there.

3

it would really be able to make voters' lives easy, as well

4

as the folks that have to manage these elections.

5

If all of our systems spoke to each other,

And so we just ask that everyone considers what

6

I'm talking about here today, and really we want to make

7

sure that we do have a good system that is the most

8

efficient, most effective system for all the voters across

9

Pennsylvania.

10

Once again, my name is Wesley Gadson.

11

thank this Committee for the work it's done and the work

12

that we're continuing to do to modernize our election

13

system, get us out of the dinosaur age, and be able to get

14

us on the top of the spear when it comes to voting laws.

15

So thank you, Majority Chairman Grove, also Chairwoman

16

Davidson, and all the Members of the Committee again.

17

I would be happy to answer any questions if anybody has any

18

questions for me at this moment.

19

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

Thank you.

I want to

And

We are

20

running a little ahead.

21

discuss as far as election law that you haven't hit on?

22

You still have a couple minutes left, so I want to make

23

sure you got your full maximum amount of time.

24
25

MR. GADSDEN:

Is there anything else you want to

I want to point out that everything

that I'm talking about today, these aren't personal
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concerns that are just concerns like, oh, these are in

2

issue that I think we need to address.

3

that w e ’ve heard over and over and over and over again from

4

voters.

5

voters at the front and the center, and so while I ’m

6

talking to guys right now, I don’t want you to look at me

7

talking to you.

8

voters that my teams have been engaging over the past years

9

that are stressing these concerns.

10

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

These are concerns

And it’s my responsibility to keep the will of the

I want you to look at 200-plus thousand

Thank you.

We

11

appreciate your testimony, and we look forward to working

12

with all of our stakeholders here in Pennsylvania to

13

make -- I think you adequately put it -- the best election

14

process we can have and really hopefully a model for other

15

States moving forward, so we really appreciate your

16

testimony today, sir.

17

MR. GADSDEN:

Thank you.

18

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

Next testifier is J.

19

Christian Adams, President and General Counsel, Public

20

Interest Legal Foundation.

21

and turn on your camera.

Mr. Adams, if you could unmute

22

MR. ADAMS:

23

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

Hopefully, you can hear me.
Yep, we can hear you.

24

And w e ’re trying to bring you up on the big screen.

25

again.

Say hi
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MR. ADAMS:

2

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

3

Hi.

Hopefully, you can hear me now.
There we go.

Perfect.

If you could raise your right hand.

4
5

(Witness sworn.)

6
7

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

8

floor is yours, sir.

9

MR. ADAMS:

Thank you, and the

Thank you very much, Chairman Grove,

10

Members of the Committee.

11

testify today.

12

President of the Public Interest Legal Foundation.

13

a nonprofit charity devoted to promoting election integrity

14

and best practices for election officials.

15

attorney in the voting section at the United States

16

Department of Justice.

17

Voting Rights Act, National Voter Registration Act, Help

18

America Vote Act.

19

United States Commission on Civil Rights, though I do not

20

speak for the Commission on these issues.

21

Thank you for the invitation to

My name is J. Christian Adams.

I ’m the
We are

I served as an

I brought cases related to the

I ’m currently also a Commissioner on the

The Public Interest Legal Foundation in recent

22

years has developed a data analysis program with particular

23

emphasis on voter registration lists, maintenance audit

24

functions, and to see how well of a job States are doing to

25

identify and timely remove ineligible registrants who may
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have died, relocated, exist in duplicate form, and may be

2

claiming improper addresses as residences.

3

have been deployed in a variety of means ranging from

4

direct leads to voter registrars for potential follow-up to

5

litigation or even amicus briefs.

6

Our findings

We have brought a case against the county of

7

Allegheny where we found one individual who was registered

8

to vote simultaneously seven times.

9

had seven active registrations.

The same individual

We had other problems in

10

Allegheny which we brought a Federal case against the

11

county, which they eventually fixed most of those problems.

12

This past month just in the last couple of weeks

13

my foundation settled a Federal lawsuit with our legal

14

expenses being paid by the Pennsylvania Department of

15

State.

16

registrants on the rolls heading into the 2020 election,

17

and we weren't seeing reasonable efforts being made to

18

remove those individuals who had died.

19

many of these dead have been on the rolls in Pennsylvania

20

for 5, 10, even 20 years, and they were not being caught by

21

the Department of State as deceased individuals.

22

The Commonwealth was carrying at least 20,000 dead

Now, bear in mind,

Now, while I'm very pleased with the settlement

23

in this instance, I remind the Committee that the

24

Commonwealth Department of State is still separately locked

25

in Federal litigation with my foundation for failing to
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disclose records, public records relating to Pennsylvania’s

2

long-standing glitches in the PennDOT motor voter

3

registration system.

4

Committee will already know how this system made national

5

headlines over the last few years after department

6

officials acknowledged that they allowed untold numbers of

7

foreign nationals to both get driver’s licenses and

8

register to vote since the 1990s.

9

somewhere between 10,000 and 100,000, but many of you know

Now, many of the Members of this

We know the number is

10

that this Committee and other Members of the legislature

11

have been denied the records from the Pennsylvania

12

Department of State after you asked for them and after my

13

foundation asked for them.

14

And we don’t know the full extent of the problem.

15

We don’t know what steps were made to fix it.

16

know who is responsible for the original mistake.

17

do know that for 20 years, aliens, both legal and perhaps

18

illegal aliens, were registering to vote and voting in

19

Pennsylvania.

20

we did a study called "Steeling the Vote” with to e ’s in

21

the word steel, focused on Allegheny County where the

22

county of Allegheny actually gave us the records that the

23

Department of State is denying.

24

individuals were begging to be removed from the rolls

25

because they were noncitizens, how they had voting

We don’t
But we

My foundation knows they were voting because

And we can see how
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histories in both Statewide elections, as well as Federal

2

presidential elections, going back 20 years, all because of

3

PennDOT.

4

know the facts because your Department of State is not

5

being transparent.

6

So we know that there's a problem.

We just don't

Now, I'm not here to beat up on Pennsylvania.

7

fact, it's my home State.

8

my Representative if I still lived there.

9

Greensburg.

In

Representative Nelson would be
I'm from

But I have yet to find a place in this country

10

that has zero issues with foreign national registration.

11

But I do encourage this Committee to bear in mind that the

12

Commonwealth can't simply acknowledge a 20-year-old problem

13

with foreign nationals getting registered to vote and then

14

hide the facts from the General Assembly, hide the facts

15

from the public, and hide the facts from my foundation.
Election integrity policies have to instill

16
17

public confidence in the people in charge.

18

State of Pennsylvania with the Department of State they

19

have been hiding the facts regarding significant mistakes,

20

significant administrative errors that occurred over the

21

last 20 years that allowed ineligible voters to participate

22

in your elections in your State.

And in the

23

So thank you very much for the opportunity to

24

appear, and thank you for the work you're doing on this

25

issue.
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MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

Thank you, Mr. Adams.

2

We appreciate your testimony today, and we look forward to

3

working with all the stakeholders to improve Pennsylvania’s

4

election laws moving forward, so thank you for your time

5

today.

6

We greatly appreciate it.
Next testifier is Carol Kuniholm, Vice President

7

of Government and Social Policy for the League of Women

8

Voters of Pennsylvania.

9

microphone and your video.

Carol, if you turn on your

10

MS. KUNIHOLM:

11

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

12

Yes.

Can you hear me?

w e ’re waiting for it to pop up.

13

MS. KUNIHOLM:

14

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

15

waiting for.

Not yet.

MS. KUNIHOLM:

16
17

I can hear you, and

Can you see me?
That’s what w e ’re

Say hi again.
Hi.

I do have my video on.

Should I just go ahead and start or -
MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

18
19

no, here it comes.

20

swear you in real quick.

21

hand.

Now we have you.

Here it comes.
All right.

Yes,
Let me

If you could raise your right

22
23

(Witness sworn.)

24
25

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

And the floor is yours,
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m a ’am.

2

MS. KUNIHOLM:

Thank you so much for having this

3

hearing.

4

We commend the work of the House State Government Committee

5

to explore best election practices in use in other States

6

and to invite input and feedback from County Commissioners,

7

election officials, and other election stakeholders.

8
9

Thank you for including us in this conversation.

I should say the work of the League of Women
Voters is always informed by fundamental principles, and we

10

believe that the citizen right is one of those most

11

essential principles.

12

Women Voters has fought to protect the rights of eligible

13

voters and expand access for those who have been left out

14

of the democratic process.

15

For over a century the League of

So to that end we support effective election laws

16

that ensure that elections are accessible, transparent,

17

fair, secure, and re-countable, that promote universal

18

voter participation, and provide voters with meaningful

19

choices when they go to the polls.

20

you’ve spent weeks on this, there’s a lot of different

21

issues involved, so certainly I will not have time to

22

expand on all of the ways that the League has thought about

23

this.

24

the written testimony that I submitted.

25

And, as you know,

Our positions on this in some detail are included in

As a nonpartisan organization, we believe
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election law and process should not be decided based on

2

partisan priorities or predictions but should allow all

3

voters equal access and equal assurance that all votes are

4

counted and really should include best practices as they’ve

5

been experienced by States around the country.

6

is an ongoing experiment, and w e ’re fortunate to be able to

7

learn from others as this experiment unfolds.

8
9

Democracy

Act 77 of 2019 introduced significant needed
changes to Pennsylvania’s elections after decades without

10

those issues being addressed that made it possible for the

11

first time for all Pennsylvanians to vote by mail.

12

historic reform, timely as it was, yielded expanded

13

participation in the 2020 election even as COVID-19 made

14

voting in person more difficult.

15

continued no-excuse vote-by-mail, as well as the

16

implementation of early voting sites and feedback that

17

w e ’ve had from voters around the State strongly encourage

18

that.

19

especially in light of the pandemic.

20

voters, rural voters, people with transportation

21

difficulties, those were really important changes and

22

expanded accessibility to use the right to vote.

23

changes made access for large segments of the Pennsylvania

24

population more possible.

25

demographics and party affiliations expressed appreciation

That

We strongly endorse

Many people were thrilled at that opportunity,
But for many older

Those

People from a wide range of

85
1

for those really, really important changes.

2

As w e ’ve heard today, elections are not just

3

about who wins and loses but also who votes, and Act 77

4

closed the turnout gap for voters with disabilities or

5

transportation gaps, and early voting locations made in

6

person voting available for many Pennsylvania workers whose

7

shift schedules or childcare needs or lengthy commutes made

8

voting inaccessible in the past.

9

had a part in passing Act 77.

10

So thank you for all who

While we celebrate that, we know further

11

clarification is needed on a range of issues, as the 2020

12

elections made clear.

13

would highlight would be to provide a clearer definition of

14

what it means to pre-canvass ballots and provide time for

15

counties to begin opening, sorting, and preparing ballots

16

for scanning 10 to 14 days before election day.

17

Pennsylvania law suggest that pre-canvassing includes

18

counting, which concerns someone we talk about pre

19

canvassing.

20

suggestions included in CCAP testimony would go a long way

21

to make this more clear and ease confusion and delay in a

22

final count and certainly ease the challenges that our

23

county election officials and workers faced in the last

24

elections.

25

Some specific recommendations we

That needs to be clarified.

Current

I would say the

We would also urge simplification and
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standardization of rules surrounding ballot return to

2

ensure the ability of voters to cure ballot defects.

3

would affirm the National Vote at Home recommendations made

4

today regarding security envelopes and signature

5

verification.

6

I

It's also important to provide population-based

7

standards for minimum number of polling places, drop boxes,

8

and early voting locations so there's genuine equity and

9

access to vote or to return ballots.

As our spokesperson

10

from One PA mentioned, there is not current equity in that,

11

and there was wide disparities in the most recent election.

12

It's important that those disparities be clarified or

13

removed so that everybody has access to the same

14

opportunities to use their right to vote.

15

We would also recommend establishment of best

16

practice standards for correction of electronic voter rolls

17

and use of electronic pollbooks.

18

automatic voter registration and same-day voter

19

registration as ways to reduce cost and errors and allow

20

for easy updates and corrections.

21

electronic pollbooks and find them efficient, effective,

22

and economical compared to the current pollbook practices

23

in use in many Pennsylvania counties.

24
25

We strongly support

Many States make use of

And it's also essential that county election
officials receive uniform standards for training and
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implementation and that the State assist counties with

2

needed funding for secure election systems and election

3

staffing and training.

4

I was struck by Amber McReynolds of National Vote

5

at Home’s mention of the need of clarification of the

6

rulemaking process and the need to allow chief election

7

officials the ability to implement technical rules in

8

emergency situations when election law is not adequately

9

clear or detailed or timely.

This seemed to have been a

10

serious concern in the past year and was not well-addressed

11

in the way that we ended up in litigation over things that

12

should not have needed litigation.

13

in law to plan for pandemics or for postal slowdowns or

14

some of the other challenges that faced our election

15

officials in the 2020 election.

16

election officials have an approved way to address needed

17

changes and provide appropriate guidance in unprecedented

18

situations.

19

There’s really no way

It’s really essential that

I would strongly support the National Vote at

20

Home best practices as described this morning.

21

certainly affirm CCAP concerns and urge that their concerns

22

be considered in a timely way.

23

stress in the last election, and we would like to see that

24

alleviated.

25

county election officials and workers for the incredible

We would

They were put under great

They did heroic work, and thank you to our
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work done to do the election in this past year in really

2

difficult circumstances.

3

We would also recommend the statements from One

4

PA to make sure that we have equitable elections.

5

recommendations are sound, and we would affirm those.

6

Their

And also I mentioned in my written statement the

7

Bipartisan Policy Center's Logical Election Policy report

8

and recommendations from the Task Force on Elections

9

January 2020.

Those are fairly recent based on best

10

practice in States around the country, and they provide a

11

lot of detail and data on questions referenced in today's

12

testimony.

13

My written testimony, as I said, has further

14

details.

15

time talking about policies and positions supported by the

16

League of Women Voters.

17

I won’t go into them.

We could be here a long

I do want to return to the question of who votes.

18

As David Thornburg mentioned earlier, in many primaries,

19

the primary in many elections the primary is the deciding

20

election and over a million Pennsylvania voters are not

21

eligible.

22

registered independents for a third party, and those

23

people, including myself, are not able to vote in

24

Pennsylvania’s closed primary.

25

continue with close primaries, and it would go a long way

One-point-three million Pennsylvanians are

There are only States that
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to broaden the ability to engage in our electoral system if

2

we shifted to a more open primary system.

3

Thank you so much again to this Committee for the

4

work you’ve done.

5

work ahead to take all of this testimony and to put it into

6

practice.

7

continue to be a part of those conversations to offer input

8

on proposed legislation, and we really appreciate the work

9

that you’re doing and hope that it continues in as

10

I know you have some really challenging

League of Women Voters certainly would like to

bipartisan a way as possible.

11

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

12

much.

13

January 2020 report?

14
15

And real quick, what was that report again, the

MS. KUNIHOLM:

Bipartisan Policy Center, I

provided a link in the testimony that I provided.

16

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

17

MS. KUNIHOLM:

18

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

19

Thank you, Carol, so

sure we have that.

20

Okay.

Yes.
I just want to make

Okay.

MS. KUNIHOLM:

Yes, I ’ll say it again.

It’s the

21

Logical Election Policy report and recommendations of the

22

Bipartisan Policy Center’s Task Force on Elections January

23

2020.

24

pre-canvassing, electronic pollbooks, a lot of really good

25

information.

It has a lot of really good detail on things like

I would strongly recommend it.
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MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

Excellent.

Thank you

2

so much for your testimony, and, as always, we appreciate

3

your willingness to testify today, and we look forward to

4

working with all the stakeholders to advance election

5

changes here in Pennsylvania to benefit voters moving

6

forward, so thank you much, Carol, we really appreciate it.

7
8

MS. KUNIHOLM:

Thank you so much for having me.

I appreciate it.

9

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

Thank you.

10

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

Next testifier is

11

Colonel Anthony A. Shaffer, President London Center for

12

Policy Research.

13
14

MR. SHAFFER:

Yeah, can you hear me?

I got my

camera up, too.

15
16

Colonel Shaffer, are you online?

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

We can hear you, and we

can see you.

17

MR. SHAFFER:

Great.

18

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

Excellent.

Can you

19

raise your right hand real quick for us and we'll swear you

20

in?

21

MR. SHAFFER:

Absolutely.

22
23

(Witness sworn.)

24
25

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

Thank you.

And the
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1
2

floor is yours, sir.
MR. SHAFFER:

Great, thank you.

Well, thank you

3

for hosting this.

4

you all are picking up and running with readily.

5

I think this is a critical issue that

My perspective today is one based on my previous

6

visits to your capital.

7

testifying before your legislature and probably the eighth

8

time I've worked professionally to try to advise or assist

9

the State of Pennsylvania in this area, so I'm gratified

This will be my fourth time

10

that you're doing this, and I am humbled to be part of the

11

process of the continued dialogue.

12

So my perspective today -- and I've submitted my

13

written testimony.

14

summarize some of the higher points and go through the

15

recommendations we have from what we've observed in

16

previous instances regarding the structure of the

17

Pennsylvania voting system.

18

previous testimony, which I provided on February 11th of

19

2019, before the joint session of the Committee on Veterans

20

Affairs and Emergency Preparedness that we went through and

21

talked about some of the vulnerabilities I then perceived.

22

Some of those have been fixed, some have not, and that's

23

what I want to go through and cover some of this today and

24

talk about what needs to be done next.

25

I ’m not going to read it.

I ’m going to

I've submitted for review my

So regarding qualifications, my qualifications
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for being here today are in my written testimony, but in

2

summary, I often say this in other hearings, I ’m the guy

3

your mother told you to stay away from as a kid for

4

purposes of the fact that I look at things from a threat

5

perspective.

6

if I were an adversary could I do to create havoc,

7

discontent, or chaos.

8

I ’m going to be a little bit pointed in my comments

9

regarding the need to clarify and establish clear

I look at things from the perspective of what

And I think that’s the reason why

10

guidelines and mechanisms for enforcement going forward

11

regarding the process of voting, especially in those areas

12

regarding the tabulation, amalgamation, and reporting of

13

votes.

14

that the vote was cast as counted and counted as cast as

15

part of the process of achieving an electoral victory by

16

any given candidate.

17

This is something that’s critical to the perception

So, with that said, this is not simply a

18

structural issue.

19

previous testimony to include other States is I am all for

20

the idea of optically read hand-marked paper ballots.

21

source to me is ambivalent.

22

in a booth and does it or it’s mailed in, as long as that

23

process is done in such a way that it’s secure.

24

is the key.

25

One of the things I do highlight in my

The

I don’t care if someone sits

Security

And I think that’s what we need to look at both
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from the perspective of what the reality is versus what the

2

perception is because both are equally weighted in some

3

instances the idea that a technology must be effective to

4

be adapted.

5

certain voting machines, which some said were problematic

6

during the last election cycle.

7

before the Texas State Senate on this issue, so I do

8

believe that the technology that’s selected is hugely

9

important to the outcome.

10

As some of you will know, Texas did not adapt

I actually testified

With that said, individuals being in the loop,

11

individuals being a critical component to making a

12

technology work must also be scrutinized, as well as the

13

process for their actions within the process of using a

14

technology.

15

output of both of these things together, people using the

16

technology, the technology having an observed outcome, is

17

something then that can be shaped or used by an enemy to

18

create perceptions that either benefit our democracy or

19

hurt our democracy.

20

These things are intimately linked.

And the

We have adversaries out there who will pick up

21

and use any information that shows any weakness against us,

22

and this is something that -- and I know you all asked us

23

to limit our comments to Pennsylvania process.

24

telling you as someone who’s done this across the Nation,

25

the weakest link in our democracy comes down to each

I ’m just
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State’s ability to protect their own election process.

2

that’s why Pennsylvania, being the critical State it is, is

3

so important to get this right.

4

things that I ’d like to see your Committee and others

5

continue to do as we go forward.

6

And

And so that’s some of the

So when we look at the results of 2020, I ’m not

7

here to cast any stones at anybody.

8

which was notable and I think that’s one of the things that

9

many of you will understand,

One of the things

I was running investigations,

10

looking at some of the election issues, the perceptions of

11

results which were less than adequate.

12

into that.

I don’t have time to go through all of the

13

anomalies.

I will provide a report to the Committee that

14

you all can distribute that the London Center put together

15

regarding the observed anomalies.

16

Pennsylvania, but many things in Pennsylvania were referred

17

to in that.

18

I don’t want to get

The report goes beyond

So my concern is how do we work together with the

19

State of Pennsylvania using all the tools, techniques, and

20

technology to create both a secure technology which allows

21

for in-person or by-mail voting?

22

the process of how a person votes.

23

But that must be done in such a way that, when it’s

24

counted, it’s recorded in such a way that can be traced

25

back to its origins, it can be verified readily and

Again, I ’m ambivalent to
I ’m all for inclusion.
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supported in any audit after the fact.

2

There are things which happened.

Some of them

3

are related to ongoing lawsuits which, again, I don’t wish

4

to get into.

5

extensively and I ’ve always actually referred to his

6

previous testimony as well as his affidavit in preparing my

7

work is Gregory Stenstrom.

8

interviewed Gregory.

9

some of his observations to be very credible.

One of those individuals who I have spoken to

Greg and I have met.

I ’ve

I ’ve looked at his affidavit.

I find

10

And so part of what I ’m saying here is that the

11

State of Pennsylvania is obligated to review all credible

12

instances of potential instances of observed fraud to the

13

greatest extent possible so that it’s resolved.

14

thing both sides of the aisle can do is to examine these

15

things factually, to not become emotional, to not say it’s

16

not possible or this is political.

17

as a national security expert that, as you work together to

18

resolve these established paths forward to make sure that,

19

first off, it doesn’t happen again.

20

again, there is some sort of a resolution that would permit

21

it.

22

The best

Again, I ’m saying this

If it does happen

And, again, I ’m speaking both of technology of

23

things like thumb drives, which are not necessarily secure

24

and moved around during a tabulation process, as well as

25

individuals being prevented from observing these pieces of
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technology.

2

perception which is not healthy to our democracy and, more

3

importantly, becomes a vulnerability that adversaries can

4

exploit.

5

assess and resolve this.

6

the world and to our adversaries to make sure that they do

7

not see any weakness that they can take advantage of.

8

Again, I ’ve testified in the past regarding the

9

vulnerabilities of hard drives, of thumb drives.

These things work together to create a certain

So it’s simply not about how we domestically
It’s how we then present this to

All these

10

sorts of things are vulnerable, and I look forward to

11

continuing to work with the State of Pennsylvania on the

12

technology piece.

13

With that said, I would like to also offer my

14

assistance and the assistance of the London Center to

15

examine the perception issues which go with this.

16

why the legal process must be worked and continued in such

17

a way to make sure these things are resolved.

That’s

18

So as we go through this as a team, nonpartisan,

19

bipartisan, however you want to do term it, transpartisan,

20

the idea here is to work this with a great deal of respect

21

due to the legislative process.

22

recommend that legislators look at is enforcement

23

mechanisms, enforcement both for technology failures where

24

we see departures from someone not following the process,

25

which is dangerous because it leaves open a vulnerability.

One of the things I do
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If that vulnerability becomes known to an adversary, they

2

will exploit it through some level of cyber operation.

3

Again, I could go into that in much greater detail on some

4

other date, but at this point, suffice it to say that some

5

of the vulnerabilities which have been exposed as part of

6

the election after-action of 2020, these things will be

7

looked at for adversaries in the future.

8
9

The second part of that, again, is the perception
of the weakness.

The idea here that certain individuals

10

may act in such a way to diminish the ability of oversight

11

and transparency.

12

legislature must provide better enforcement mechanisms to

13

make sure that legal observers are there to observe the

14

technology in motion.

15

again recommend that the State examine its process and

16

procedures for purposes of making sure that the next

17

election cycle, this is resolved.

18

The State of Pennsylvania, the

That's critical.

And so I would

So, in conclusion, we've come up with a number of

19

recommendations that we believe are important, and I'll go

20

through these very quickly.

21

that you create and regulations must be enforceable,

22

especially in this critical time where the observation of

23

technology is critical to ensuring the outcome is accurate.

24

Again, I don't want to get into pointing fingers.

25

want to get into any issues that relate to ongoing legal

As I mentioned, the State laws

I don't
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hearings or suits, but I do believe that there are things

2

which were observed and reported on, whether true or false,

3

that created a certain perception.

4

One of the best things that they can do is to

5

create a process which is more reliable for those to

6

observe.

7

maximum extent.

8

this is very difficult.

9

ballots, there’s an optical reader involved and it becomes

Tabulation must be publicly visible to the
When you’re talking about digital systems,
While we have hand-marked paper

10

digitized.

11

ensure that people observe to ensure that it is done

12

fairly.

13

That process must equally be protected and

The transmission of results remains a

14

vulnerability.

15

you can protect the hand-marked issue, the hand-marked

16

paper ballot issue, and therefore, I recommend, as I have

17

in the past, that the State of Pennsylvania put together a

18

red team which examines the processes from the threat

19

perspective.

20

adversary from some foreign country and then tries to

21

penetrate the system.

22

all understand vulnerabilities and what could be done

23

before it happens.

24
25

Digitization only goes so far regarding how

That is to say someone like me becomes an

I think it would go far to help you

Bad actors spend billions of dollars to try to
figure out, you know, the ways of access.

My
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recommendation is if we go through this as a team, you guys

2

can resolve quickly with a lot less money than the bad guys

3

ways to protect the system.

4

The ballots must be 100 percent human-readable.

5

When you have a ballot, you must make sure that there are

6

no marks on it that cannot be read by a human being.

7

may take some work.

8

should be marked in such a way that it is an actual ballot.

9

There was accusations of ballots not necessarily being from

This

And also we believe that each ballot

10

the right printer, the right printing organization.

11

is something that needs to be examined for purposes of

12

securing those hand-marked ballots and making sure that the

13

ballots cast created by the State are the ones used by the

14

voter and goes in for the tally and is available for

15

review.

16

This

Also, risk-limiting audits are critical to the

17

process.

18

available to go back and check the vote and then

19

mathematical validation.

20

this.

21

to this other than saying that there are valid ways of

22

preloading or pre-acknowledging the need to have validation

23

of the digital process, the digital pieces of the process

24

to make sure that there's no room for allegations to be

25

made against anybody regarding that issue.

You must make sure that there is digital methods

We saw all sorts of stuff on

Again, I don't want to get into any issues relating
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So, again, I thank you all for allowing me the

2

time today to address this issue from the threat

3

perspective.

4

on this.

5

prudently conduct audits, review processes, and procedures

6

of the 2020 election, standardize best practices, create

7

enforcement mechanisms to ensure oversight and access for

8

election observers to monitor tabulation processes so that

9

the sacred right to vote for all citizens of Pennsylvania

10

I appreciate Pennsylvania’s leaning forward

It is my judgment that Pennsylvania must

is protected.
So thank you again for having me today, and I

11
12

look forward to continuing to work with you on protecting

13

the election process.
MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

14

Thank you very much,

15

Colonel Shaffer.

16

coming to Harrisburg and testifying using your vast

17

experience to help us address election issues moving

18

forward.

19

with all stakeholders to advance policy to improve our

20

election system moving forward, so thank you very much.

We greatly appreciate, once again, you

And like I ’ve said, we look forward to working

21

MR. SHAFFER:

Thank you.

22

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

Having wrapped up the

23

testifiers, stakeholder testimony, we will move to Member

24

testimony.

25

you turn your screen and your microphone and say hi?

Representative DeLissio, are you there?

Can
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REPRESENTATIVE DELISSIO:

2

or good afternoon now.

3

and the video.

4
5

Good morning, Chairman

They are both turned on, the mic

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

The floor is yours,

REPRESENTATIVE DELISSIO:

Thank you.

m a 'am.

6

I

7

appreciate this opportunity to share some thoughts with the

8

Committee.

9

for six years on this Committee.

Let me start by saying I miss you guys.

I sat

I've been following some

10

of the work from afar, and I just could not resist the

11

opportunity to weigh in today.

12

this.

13

doing in the future.

14

So, again, thank you for

And thank you for the work that I know you'll be

Back in 2012 or 2013 -- I forget which year it

15

was -- when our General Assembly was debating voter ID, it

16

caused me to do some homework and research because we were

17

focusing on that one aspect, and I had found my way to a

18

report called "Building Confidence in U.S. Elections.”

19

Now, this report is dated 2005, and I'm going to send the

20

link to all of the Committee Members to share it because

21

this is a commission in 2005 that was headed by former

22

President Jimmy Carter and former Secretary of State James

23

Baker.

24

its recommendations at the time were considered to

25

modernize the system, they were thought to be bold

And this commission produced a 113-page report, and
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proposals, and they sought to weigh integrity and access.

2

And like many if not all of my colleagues over

3

the past eight months, nine months, at least the general

4

election and before, you know, I ’ve received a lot of email

5

and correspondence and communication from citizens

6

expressing their concern about both of these things, the

7

integrity of the election and access.

8

not sure how we have discussed it has been perhaps the most

9

responsible way to discuss it.

And, you know, I ’m

I myself personally try to

10

never feed anybody’s fears and really do try to listen and

11

try to get to the bottom of those concerns.

12

Now, many of these recommendations

13

surprisingly -- and I ’m not going to read them all by any

14

stretch because I ’m going to email it to you -- they

15

include things like voter registration and identification

16

and suggest that the States should be controlling more of

17

this and therefore there would be uniformity as opposed to

18

assisting local governments who are doing this or local

19

counties in our Commonwealth’s instance.

20

It talks about interoperability between States so

21

that, you know, w e ’re a very transient society now, and I

22

think even more so since the pandemic has hit.

23

now teleworking, telecommuting, choosing their place to

24

live, and their job no longer dictates that in some

25

instances, not ubiquitously.

People are
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So things that are discussed in 2005 in this

2

report are more important than ever, and few if any of

3

these things have been taken seriously or these

4

recommendations been seriously considered that I can

5

discern.

6

Congress because if they act on the Federal level, that

7

will accomplish some of these.

8

the purview of the States, so that’s why I would like to

9

send this around and to the degree I can continue to be

10
11

Some of these recommendations are directly to

But many of them are within

helpful, I certainly will be.
It’s interesting because back in 2005 they talk

12

about the implementation of a real ID card as a way to help

13

with voter identification.

14

first chose not to participate in the real ID program and

15

then subsequently we needed to reverse that decision.

16

talks about voting machines and how important those

17

machines are and that a voter-verifiable paper audit trail

18

should be part of it.

19

meaning for those who are less able-bodied to be able to

20

get to a voting machine and exercise that right to vote.

21

And of course Pennsylvania

It

It talks about accessibility,

I know I live in a Philadelphia part of my

22

district, and I have constituents who are concerned that,

23

you know, there are few and far between fully accessible

24

handicapped polling locations.

25

voting centers so that I want to say you can vote on the

It talks about things like
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2

run.
You know, our lives are very different now than

3

they were decades ago and even 10 years ago so that we have

4

the technology and the ability and the capability to do

5

this better and differently, yet I hear -- you know, I ’ve

6

spoken to the prime sponsor of the legislation to repeal

7

mail-in ballots.

8

conversation.

9

you know, that had such tremendous benefit.

He shares with me he did that to start a

Well, he certainly has my attention because,
It expanded

10

the voting franchise.

11

citizens of the Commonwealth to draw the conclusion that in

12

fact we are trying to limit that franchise or limit

13

participation of voters.

14

I don’t want my constituents or any

You know, our voting law that was put into place

15

in 1937, life is very different.

Our population is much

16

more expanded.

17

over the last 80-some years to stand on line on a given

18

Tuesday because they control their work schedules?

19

people don’t control their work schedules and don’t have

20

that flexibility.

21

distracting us from getting to the improvements and the

22

safeguards that are needed so that our citizens have every

23

confidence that, come election day when they cast that

24

vote, it’s been duly recorded, duly counted, and only legal

25

votes have been voted.

Do we really expect the expanded population

Many

So these things shouldn’t even be

I don’t think anybody should have
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to have that worry or concern.

2

Let me just see, Chairman, if I can find access

3

for voters with disabilities.

4

ballot integrity, voter and civic education, you know, I ’m

5

amazed at how many citizens kind of -- I want to assume at

6

some point they knew this and then forgot that -- somebody

7

actually told me, well, no, we vote every two years.

8

thought they were confusing that with, for instance, the

9

terms of office that we hold we were up for election every

I covered that.

Improving

And I

10

two years.

11

twice a year every year.

12

ability to educate and keep our citizens informed civically

13

has fallen down a little bit.

14

He really didn’t realize that we have elections
So somewhere along the line our

And it does talk about here absentee ballots,

15

voter registration fraud.

16

and that we should be exploring how mail-in ballots can

17

help expand the franchise.

18

It talks about mail-in ballots

And I just want to close in saying that I think

19

the mistake that we made back in 2012 and 2013 or the

20

mistake I thought that was being made at that time I was a

21

no-vote for that voter ID not because I don’t believe in

22

safeguarding elections, but these recommendations, it’s

23

clearly stated in here they’re not meant or intended to be

24

cherry picked because the cover letter in the report says

25

very often Democrats, Republicans, independents have
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different thoughts about these recommendations, number one,

2

and different thoughts about the implementation of it.

3

These are intended to be implemented almost simultaneously

4

or, you know, at the same time or within a very tight time

5

frame so that folks are not -- so if you’re going to do

6

voter ID, it says then you better have mobile registration

7

vans out there to ensure those who can’t get to the local

8

DMV have that opportunity to get that photo ID at no cost

9

to them.

10

So this is a very holistic approach to voting.

11

love our 247-year-old experiment here.

12

the next generation was born in our family in October of

13

this year, and I want to ensure that this experiment

14

continues well through her lifetime and her children’s

15

lifetime, and this is the most critical component of that

16

experiment is voting.

17

So my sleeves are rolled up.

I

The first baby of

I ’m ready to help

18

and contribute in any way I can even though I ’m no longer a

19

Member of the Committee.

20

link to this report, which was produced by American

21

University.

22

is how much of this is still unaddressed.

23
24
25

And I will be sending around a

It’s a little dated, but what is so surprising

So, Chairman and Chairwoman, thank you so much,
and have a good day.

See you next week.

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

Thank you,
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Representative.

2

was the first one to want to testify, so she got to go

3

first.

4

We appreciate it.

And, by the way, she

We are waiting on Representative Klunk to get

5

online, so we will go to Representative Heffley.

6

floor is yours, sir.

7

REPRESENTATIVE HEFFLEY:

And the

Thank you, Mr. Chairman,

8

and I thank the Committee for all your work and efforts

9

that you've put forth with these hearings.

I've been

10

following the updates.

11

all today, just a few words to reflect on what I've been

12

hearing from the constituents that I represent in the 122nd

13

District in Carbon County.

14

And I just wanted to speak to you

As we all know, elections are the core of our

15

democracy, the ability for the people to select

16

Representatives and representative bodies to govern.

17

Bodies that are responsive and accountable to the people is

18

absolutely critical in our 245-year history as a Nation.

19

The core to that democracy is the confidence that the

20

public has in fair elections.

21

Sometimes elections hinge on one or two votes in

22

a municipality, which can have huge ramifications for the

23

direction that that municipality or that borough goes.

24

we've also seen legislative House seats and U.S. House

25

seats hinge on just a couple of votes, so every vote is so

And
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important.

2

After speaking with our Carbon County election

3

officials after the 2020 November election, one of the

4

things that I found alarming in talking with them was their

5

concern of the directives that were coming from the

6

Department of State and the inconsistencies and the

7

confusion that was coming out of that office when it came

8

to election law and them actually questioning some of the

9

positions that were taken by the Secretary of State at that

10

time, who then had to resign obviously for other reasons

11

regarding the ballot questions.

12

In Carbon County we didn’t see any serious

13

problems.

14

Party in Carbon County and the Republican Party, and we

15

have poll watchers and poll workers at so many different

16

locations on election day and election evening.

17

that there were people at the election office watching the

18

mail-in ballots and the votes being tallied.

19

representative from the Biden campaign and the Democratic

20

Party as well as one from the county GOP party and talking

21

and it just was very -- it’s how elections are supposed to

22

be, watching the tallying of the votes.

23

important that this Committee, we take steps to ensure that

24

every county has that same type of congeniality amongst the

25

parties when tallying the votes and availability to be

I have a good relationship with the Democratic

I can say

There was a

And I think it’s
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transparent.

2

One of the concerns that I ’ve heard quite a bit

3

from a lot of the residents and what has kind of shaken

4

their faith in the democratic process, Act 77, as you know,

5

was passed in 2019.

6

that later came about in late September in 2020 when there

7

was really no time for the legislature to take action to

8

rectify some of those rulings concerning the not using the

9

signature match anymore, drop boxes, which were confusing

With that, some of the court rulings

10

at best.

11

availability for drop boxes.

12

county polling office.

13

In Carbon County, residents didn’t have
There was one drop box at the

I think as we move forward, this legislative

14

body, I hope that we can find common ground and work on

15

solutions, bipartisan, because it’s important whether we

16

look at the issues maybe with the courts or maybe with the

17

Secretary of State, all these offices and all these

18

positions are only temporary.

19

I always tell people when they come to the State

20

House Floor that I sit in this seat.

21

seat.

22

the people’s office, and they selected me to sit there, the

23

same with the Supreme Court.

24
25

I don’t own the office.

I don’t own this

It’s not my office.

It’s

So if we don’t rectify this at some point to say
that the legislature passes voting laws, then it could be
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at the whims of the court going forward and that could play

2

to whatever political party holds the courts, and that’s

3

not how it should be.

4

that is passed in both the House and Senate and signed by

5

the Governor and enacted as Act 77 was and not changed by

6

the courts.

It should be an agreed-to language

7

So just a couple of recommendations that have

8

come to my office to kind of restore that very delicate

9

confidence or very delicate balance of confidence that

10

voters in Pennsylvania should have knowing that their vote

11

is going to be counted and they’re not going to be cheated

12

out of that opportunity to vote.

13

forward the Committee could work together in a bipartisan

14

manner to ensure that the State legislature passes and

15

enacts election law as prescribed in the U.S. Constitution.

16

I would hope that going

I also think that we should ensure that those

17

election laws are clear and there should be a way to ensure

18

that the Secretary of State is providing proper guidance in

19

every county and consistency in that guidance to every

20

county as to how that law will be enacted.

21

I also think we need to come up with a common

22

sense type of voter ID.

23

match, we essentially have no voter ID at all.

24

concerning, and people aren’t going to have the confidence,

25

especially when you look at State and local elections which

When we take away the signature
It’s very
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hinge on just a couple of ballots.

2

always excited about who wins the election.

3

somewhat disappointed in some recent elections but I've

4

also been very happy about recent elections.

5

end of the day the President is the President of the United

6

States of America and he's the President for everyone.

7

Senators, our U.S. Senators, they represent all of the

8

State of Pennsylvania.

9

And we may not be
I've been

But at the

Our

So it's important that we have that uniformity

10

and that the people have the confidence in that because

11

right now we have a large segment of the population whose

12

confidence is shattered and they feel cheated.

13

this because I hear from a lot of residents.

14

hopefully draft legislation in a bipartisan manner where we

15

can all restore that confidence in every part because in

16

the past the pendulum had swung the other way.

17

for balance and compromise to restore that confidence in

18

all Pennsylvanians.

19

And I know
And I want to

I'm looking

So, Mr. Chairman, I thank you for allowing me a

20

few minutes to express the views of the residents in the

21

122nd District and be here before your Committee today.

22

Thank you.

23

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

Thank you,

24

Representative Heffley.

25

believe we have Representative Klunk online if you could

I greatly appreciate it.

I
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unmute and turn on your microphone.

2

REPRESENTATIVE KLUNK:

Thank you, Mr. Chairman,

3

and thank you to the Committee for taking testimony today

4

and your hard work over the past couple of months and

5

really getting to the heart of our election issues here in

6

Pennsylvania.

7

integrity and confidence are at the forefront of our

8

election system.

At the end of the day we need to ensure that

9

And I heard Representative Heffley's testimony,

10

and I echo pretty much everything what he said, but in my

11

time I wanted to focus on an issue that came to my

12

attention in my local district and have a fear that this

13

could happen throughout the Commonwealth.

14

So prior to the 2020 election, I had a polling

15

location West Manheim Township in my district that only had

16

one poll.

17

very long lines, so we worked with the county in trying to

18

break that particular poll up into three different

19

locations.

20

were really ready to go with the upcoming 2020 primary and

21

general election to ensure that our voters had access,

22

shorter lines, and just ease of the voting process.

23

It was a rather large township, and there were

We worked in finding new polling locations and

Now, unfortunately, what happened after that is

24

rather frightening and disturbing to some of the voters in

25

my district and some of these issues bubbled up -- really
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they came up in the general election because we just didn’t

2

have as many people voting in the primary.

3

happened was when the township was cut up into three

4

different voting locations, people were sent to different

5

polls and they received the notice from the county that

6

they had a new polling location.

And what

Now, the problem was that the polling location

7
8

that they had on their voter card and on the county website

9

in some cases didn’t match what the State had on the

10

State’s website as a polling location.

11

receiving calls to our office, where should I go vote?

12

a lot of these happened on boundaries in between the

13

different polling locations.

14

So we were
And

And the county had described it to us that it was

15

a local GIS data polling issue within some of the county

16

offices that handle that, that I guess it wasn’t talking

17

correctly and it didn’t map properly, which this is

18

concerning because we had voters who were going to a

19

particular poll, weren’t on the poll log, they couldn’t

20

vote there even though, you know, some of the data said,

21

yes, they were supposed to vote there.

22

up having to vote provisionally or tried to go across town

23

to another poll where they supposedly were supposed to

24

vote.

25

questions about, you know, integrity and confidence in the

So then they ended

This brought about a lot of confusion, a lot of
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system out in West Manheim Township.
And the other issue with it is that that township

3

is a little bit more of a bedroom community.

4

of folks who work down in Maryland and get home late or

5

they try to vote in the morning, and they just don’t have

6

the time when they show up at a polling location to then

7

drive across town to go to the other polling location where

8

supposedly they’re registered to vote.

9

We have a lot

So some of those issues that came about after

10

those provisional ballots were cast was that they weren’t

11

actually properly logged in the State system, so we had

12

constituents who were trying to ensure that their vote was

13

properly cast.

14

properly cast and counted, but the State website was not.

15

So there was a lot of confusion when it came to those

16

provisional ballots.

17

The county was telling them that it was

So one thing that I ask [inaudible] and the

18

Department of State -- hopefully they’re listening -- and

19

the counties is to really truly check those systems and

20

make sure that they’re properly talking to each other to

21

ensure that those addresses are in the proper pollbooks,

22

that the proper information is on the county website and

23

that the same information is on the State website and that

24

it’s the same information on their voter registration card

25

because it created a lot of confusion in West Manheim

115
1
2

Township, down here in the 169th District.
And these provisional ballots, they matter.

3

Every single vote matters.

4

colleagues who actually is a Member of the Committee, he

5

won his primary by one vote, and that vote happened to be a

6

provisional ballot.

7

And we all know one of our

So, you know, this issue might seem to be to some

8

people, oh, they just got the map wrong, they can drive

9

across town, maybe vote at the other location, but there

10

are voter, you know, confidence issues that came up with

11

this and just, you know, the inability for people to

12

actually exercise their right to vote with an actual ballot

13

as opposed to a provisional ballot.

14

So we need to work to ensure that voters have

15

confidence in the system, that we have a system that has

16

integrity, that the right information is out there and, you

17

know, again, at the end of the day we need to ensure access

18

to as many people as possible when it comes to voting here

19

in Pennsylvania.

20

little bit of a quirky one, but I wanted to make sure that

21

that was on the Committee’s radar and the Department of

22

State as we move forward to make sure that these types of

23

issues don’t happen again.

24

the system is now correct and is properly talking and is

25

properly mapped, but I can only imagine how many other

So I wanted to raise that issue.

It’s a

The county has assured us that
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townships, boroughs are out there throughout Pennsylvania

2

where this might be an issue for constituents.

3

So I just wanted to raise that, share that with

4

the Committee, and also take a moment to say thank you,

5

again, to the Committee for your hard work on this issue.

6

I look forward to seeing some of your recommendations so

7

that we can make sure Pennsylvania has a very strong voting

8

system to ensure confidence and integrity in our voters and

9

our constituents.

10

So thank you again so very much, and I

look forward to hearing your recommendations.

11

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

Thank you,

12

Representative Klunk.

13

on a very unique instance in your district, so thank you

14

very much.

15

We appreciate your testimony today

Unfortunately, Chairman Day couldn’t be with us

16

today, but that’s okay because if you show up to play, you

17

get in the game, so we do have a substitute.

18
19
20

Representative Donna Bullock, the floor is yours,
m a ’am.
REPRESENTATIVE BULLOCK:

Thank you, Chairman, for

21

allowing me to pinch-hit here.

22

Chair of the Pennsylvania Legislative Black Caucus.

23

to thank you for this opportunity to sit in on today’s

24

hearing and to hear from all of our panelists who have

25

provided some very valuable information as we review our

I am testifying today as
I want
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voter laws here in Pennsylvania.

2

When we look at the history of voting here in our

3

country, what we know is that Black and Brown Americans

4

have had a very challenging relationship with the right to

5

vote.

6

continued to see rollbacks in response to that access.

7

we know that every single time voting access expanded for

8

Black and Brown Americans and particularly in Pennsylvania,

9

we showed up to vote.

10
11

Whenever Black voters gained more access, we
But

And unfortunately, at times that was

met with rollbacks.
Pennsylvania actually leads when it comes to

12

being accessible to all voters.

13

not want to turn that back.

14

are one of the few States that support voting rights for

15

people with past felony convictions, one of the few States

16

that allowed Black free men to vote as early as the late

17

18th century, one of the few States to not have voter ID

18

laws that block and create barriers for many Black and

19

Brown voters.

20

proud that we make voting as accessible as possible to all

21

voters but in particularly to Black voters.

22

I ’m proud of that.

Pennsylvania,

I do

for example, we

I am proud of those accomplishments.

I am

Unfortunately, that history in Pennsylvania is

23

not clean or unblemished.

24

Constitutional Convention stripped Black men of the right

25

to vote, and they would not regain that vote until 1870

In 1838 the Pennsylvania
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after the passage of the 15th Amendment.

2

Pennsylvania led because it was one of the few States to

3

enact poll taxes, literacy tests, or grandfather clauses to

4

then restrict voting rights after the 15th Amendment

5

passage.

6

But again,

These laws that we are looking at today concern

7

me because, as we watched the 2020 election and many of us

8

sat at our TVs at home, we saw in real time, in real time

9

the power of Black and Brown votes as they were being

10

counted in cities like Philadelphia, in cities like

11

Detroit, and in cities like Atlanta.

12

Black and Brown votes that made a difference in the last

13

election.

We saw the power of

And with that, as history has shown us in the

14
15

past, when Black and Brown people show up to vote, the

16

response is to cut voter access.

17

careful look at the election and voting laws that we are

18

proposing here in this Commonwealth and that we are not

19

responding to Black and Brown voters by telling them we'll

20

now make it more difficult for you to show up at the polls.

21

We'll now make it more difficult for elderly voters to vote

22

by mail.

23

parents to vote from home.

24

difficult for Black and Brown Pennsylvanians to show up.

25

We'll now tell Brown to Black Pennsylvanians that your

I hope that we take a

We'll now make it more difficult for working
We'll now make it more
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votes don’t matter, and when you do show up, we will just

2

make it tougher.

3

I

started my comments by saying Pennsylvania

4

leads.

5

have been a State that have made it easy for voters to show

6

up.

7

to Black voters by shutting them down and shutting them

8

out.

9

and I hope that as we look at these laws that are being

We have been a State that have embraced voters.

We

We have been a State that did not respond in the past

I hope we will continue that history in Pennsylvania,

10

proposed this year, we do that with careful examination, we

11

do that with an understanding of our history here in

12

Pennsylvania when it comes to voter rights, and we do that

13

with an understanding that many Black and Brown

14

Pennsylvanians have protested,

15

just to vote.

16
17

fought, and lost their lives

Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for this opportunity to
speak.
MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

18

Thank you.

That is a

19

wonderful historical perspective, and I think we can all

20

agree we can always do it better.

21

With that, Representative Kenyatta.

22

REPRESENTATIVE KENYATTA:

23
24
25

Thank you, Mr.

Chairman.
On January 6th we all watched -- hopefully in
horror -- as thousands of people, some actually carrying
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1

American flags, physically brutalized Capitol police, broke

2

into the very seat of power, and they weren’t just armed

3

with weapons and some with American flags, as I said, but

4

many of them showed up because they were armed with lies,

5

lies that were repeated again and again and again about

6

election fraud, lies the some of the testifiers we heard

7

from earlier today repeated.

8
9

These lies don’t just exist in a vacuum.
lies have real-world consequences.

These

On December 4th of last

10

year, multiple Members of this body signed a letter asking

11

that Pennsylvanians’ votes be thrown out and not be

12

counted.

13

had over the last several months.

14

And that leads us to these hearings that w e ’ve

There are things that we can do to make our

15

voting system better.

16

less imaginary fraud, which has been repeated over and over

17

again.

18

Pennsylvanian can vote as easily as possible, and that the

19

dedicated and hardworking elections officials that execute

20

our election, many of them just making a couple hundred

21

bucks or less to work all day, a lot of them seniors who,

22

out of a sense of civic duty and pride, wake up early, open

23

up a school gym or a fire station to ensure that what is

24

often and repeatedly today been called an experiment in

25

democracy, that that experiment be sustained for future

And by better, that does not mean

By better, we mean ensuring that every single
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1
2

generations.
And so there are things that we can do to make

3

their jobs easier.

4

it as easy and accessible as possible for every single

5

Pennsylvanian to have their vote heard and to have it

6

counted and to have the will of the voters respected.

7

There are things that we can do to make

W e ’ve heard repeatedly from these hearings that

8

we ought to do something about pre-canvassing.

9

others have repeatedly, repeatedly asked that we do

CCAP and

10

something about pre-canvassing.

11

can do something to make sure we streamline the process so

12

the voters can cure mail-in ballots if there’s an issue

13

with a signature or with an envelope, that there’s a

14

process by which in every single county they can cure that,

15

and that doesn’t lead to their vote not being counted.

16

And I hope that we do.

We

We could do what many other States have done to

17

allow for same-day voter registration, to have universal

18

voter registration.

19

We could do something about drop boxes.

20

clarify in the law that drop boxes can be utilized in every

21

single county.

22

accessibility to take their ballot and drop it with the

23

elections official is something that we should all want

24

because it makes the process better, makes the process more

25

accessible for voters.

To

Allowing the voters the ease and
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1

When we talk about future election reforms, the

2

only thing, the only guiding principle that we should have

3

in seeking to further reform our elections is they must

4

pass a simple test.

5

vote?

6

should be the only test that we utilize when we talk about

7

voting reforms.

Does it make it easier for people to vote?

That

And for those that continue to traffic in lies,

8
9

Does it make it easier for people to

we ought to call them out as lies.

We ought not hold up a

10

both-sides-ism that says, well, oh, well, there are folks

11

with concerns.

12

concerns because they were lied to.

13

we ought to call them out as lies, not as differences of

14

opinion, as lies, as nonfactual bile that has poisoned our

15

democracy.

16

this American promise and ensure that is accessible for

17

future generations, for that to happen, we have to excise

18

the bile and the lies out of our democratic system.

19

Well, a lot of those folks have those
And when we see lies,

And for us to sustain this democracy, to take

That is what I hope that we do moving forward.

20

That is what I hope folks have taken away from these many,

21

many hearings, that elections in Pennsylvania are safe and

22

secure, that they're safe and secure.

Thank you.

23

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

Thank you.

24

Chairwoman Davidson.

25

DEMOCRATIC CHAIRWOMAN DAVIDSON:

Thank you, Mr.
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1
2

Chairman and Members of the Committee.
We have sat through 14 hearings, heard nearly 48

3

hours of testimony from about 52 testifiers.

4

sincerely hope that it's not all to camouflage a cynical

5

voter suppression plot.

6

as was promoted, a deep dive into our election laws but in

7

fact it was a deep mockery, in fact a sad mockery of the

8

hardworking election officials that carried out and

9

executed our elections across all 67 counties.

10

And I hope, I

The 14 hearings were not at all,

Repeatedly, Members of the Committee, aided by

11

the Chair, engaged in questions that mirrored the rhetoric

12

that led to a deadly and in fact murderous insurrection at

13

our Capitol.

14

Members of this Committee insisted on spewing the same

15

rhetoric, even as testifiers from some of Pennsylvania's

16

reddest counties, most Republican counties, and experts

17

from some of the reddest and most Republican States

18

strongly pushed back against that rhetoric.

19

Despite the January deadly rampage, many

One set of testifiers that was the most striking

20

for me but seemingly largely ignored by my Republican

21

colleagues was the cybersecurity experts who warned that

22

the major interference in the election in 2020 largely came

23

from false narratives on the internet and interference

24

through disinformation campaigns, which they both agreed

25

did unbridled harm.

These security experts also said that
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1

local officials such as State Representatives play a key

2

part in dispelling those dangerous and false claims.

3

Conversely, they can also do the most damage, as many of my

4

colleagues have done in the letter that my colleague just

5

recently referred to, in fanning the flames that ultimately

6

led to the violence that we have seen.

7

Confidence in our elections has been destroyed by

8

the very people that lament its destruction.

9

Neuman, Director of the University of Southern California’s

Dr. Clifford

10

Center for Computer Systems Security, said there are two

11

types of disinformation, including disinformation about

12

candidates and disinformation about election procedures and

13

outcomes.

14

candidates changes a person’s vote, but disinformation

15

about campaigns and outcomes like we saw in 2020 prevents

16

people from actually casting votes or discourages them from

17

casting votes, and it undermines faith in our election

18

outcomes.

19

He explained that disinformation about

Dr. William Adler, the Senior Technologist of

20

Elections and Democracy, Center for Democracy and

21

Technology, also agreed, and he stated it’s really

22

important that local officials play a role in fighting

23

against disinformation, that that was the cyber attack that

24

they were most concerned about, not these fraudulent claims

25

about election voting machines being tampered with and
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1

producing a false result.

2

Not including today because there were at least

3

two or three testifiers today that espouse a number of

4

falsehoods, but there were two completely partisan and in

5

fact shameful testifiers.

6

speaker made false claims under oath.

7

him of his oath.

8

paper masquerading as a real research project, which made

9

wild, unsubstantiated, and even ridiculous claims.

One particularly egregious
I needed to remind

He also presented a partisan opinion

Is

10

there anyone in this room that would believe that Biden was

11

only elected because Zuckerberg invested some dollars in

12

the Philadelphia election, a city that has gone with a

13

Democratic presidential candidate for the last half

14

century?

15

claim.

16

testimony I really think should be struck from the record

17

it was so ludicrous.

18

No one believes that, and it’s a ridiculous
And that claim was made by Samuel Adolphsen, whose

As for relevant legislation, my colleague seems

19

to ignore over 42 hours of testimony at huge taxpayer

20

expense that repeatedly in a bipartisan way outlined the

21

need for pre-canvassing.

22

24 Republican bills that have been introduced addresses the

23

issue of pre-canvassing or extra resources or needed

24

expanded timelines for election officials to do their jobs.

25

These bills address things that no one asked for except for

None, I repeat none of the nearly
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1

the two most partisan proponents of voter suppression

2

bills.

3

County Commissioners, asked for voter ID.

4

them, not a single one asked to eliminate mail-in voting.

5

And yet we have four elimination of mail-in voting

6

proposals on the table.

7

None of the election officials, including the
None, none of

Which leads me to the conclusion that these 42

8

hours and 14 testimonies and 52 testifiers was just a

9

mockery of our democratic process and a cynical ploy to

10

restrict the voting rights of Pennsylvanians in this

11

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, and it is shameful.

12

you.

13
14

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

Thank

Thank you.

Representative Schemel.

15

REPRESENTATIVE SCHEMEL:

16

And thank you, Madam Chair.

17

today.

18

Thank you, Mr. Chair.

It’s my honor to go last

And I have to tell you that I think there might

19

have been some subterfuge in the fact that I am going last

20

today.

21

many, many months or the four months that we have been

22

engaged in this, w e ’ve heard a lot of testimony, and we as

23

a panel, all the Committee, have been subjected to many

24

hours.

25

repeatedly heard you say over and over the phrase moving

During the course of these last hearings over the

And during those hours, Mr. Chair, we have

127
1

forward, sometimes going forward, enough I think we could

2

make a drinking game out of the phrase moving forward or

3

going forward.

4

Many of us, Republican and Democrat alike,

5

sitting through hours of testimony, have marveled at the

6

fact that Madam Chair Davidson has what looks to be a large

7

coffee and w e ’ve wanted and desired and longed for that

8

coffee ourselves.

9

But I think that we have learned from these

10

hearings and learned from the testifiers there’s some

11

testimony that we like and some testimony that we don’t,

12

and I think that many times all of us, both Republicans and

13

Democrats, can agree that there are things that we need to

14

look at within our election system.

15

the fact that oil lanterns are required under our 1937

16

election law.

17

nonelectric folks, and these might be comforting elements

18

in our election system, but we can probably all agree that

19

they no longer serve a purpose, and therefore, that is a

20

reform that we can all agree on.

21

One most notably is

I live in a county that has a lot of

And so, Mr. Chair and Madam Chair, I have to

22

inform you that by common approbation of all the Republican

23

and Democratic Members of the Committee, you are neither no

24

longer recognized, and we are taking over the gavel for the

25

purpose of presenting you both with an oil lantern in
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gratitude and thanks for your many hours of service to the

2

Committee.

3

Democrats on the Committee.

4

you.

5

hasn’t yet arrived.

6

of dedication.

7

Matt and Sherry and all of the staff who have dedicated so

8

many hours.

And this is on behalf of all Republicans and
W e ’re glad to give these to

They should have a brass plaque.

9

Regrettably, that

But we thank you for your many hours

We think Michaele and Nick and Michael and

And, Mr. Chair, you had asked me earlier I think

10

when you acknowledged I was going last, you said, well, you

11

probably should summarize all of the testimony w e ’ve

12

received.

13

"Do good and avoid evil.”

14

So to that I might just cite Cicero who says,

With that, thank you very much, and I will bring

15

these lanterns to you so that you can have them at your

16

polling station during the next election and thereby abide

17

by our election laws.

18

So thank you all.

And congratulations to both.

19
20

(Applause.)

21
22
23
24
25

MAJORITY CHAIRMAN GROVE:

Thank you,

Representative Schemel.
W e ’ve done our due diligence on this Committee to
review the election law.

I appreciate, again, the staff
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1

and their hard work.

2

good bipartisan humor that I think we should end these and

3

move forward with bipartisan legislation to fix many

4

underlying issues within our election system that w e ’ve

5

heard about time and time again through these election

6

hearings.

7
8

I appreciate my lantern.

So with that, this Committee is adjourned.
you.

9
10

It is in

(The hearing concluded at 12:56 p.m.)

Thank
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